
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Chief Executive 

Phil Drury 
MCIAT, ACIOB 

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

28 October 2019 
 
TO MEMBERS OF THE ENVIRONMENT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 
 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE  

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY - ENVIRONMENT & PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 
 
Dear Councillor 
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the  
Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee on 

Tuesday, 5th November, 2019 at 6.30 pm 
in the Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston, PE21 8QR 

 
PHIL DRURY 
Chief Executive 
 
Membership: 
  

Chairman: Councillor Judith Skinner 
Vice Chairman: Councillor Tracey Abbott 
 Councillors Peter Bedford, George Cornah, Anton Dani, 

Deborah Evans, Paul Goodale, Neill Hastie, Peter Watson and 
Judith Welbourn 

 

 

A G E N D A 
 
PART 1 - PRELIMINARIES 
 

A.   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

B.   MINUTES                                                                                              (Pages 1 - 8) 
 

 To sign and confirm the minutes of the previous meeting. 
 

C.   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 
 

Public Document Pack



D.   
 

PUBLIC QUESTIONS.To answer any written questions received from members of 
the public no later than 5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting.  For this 
meeting the deadline is 5 p.m. on Thursday 31st 2019 
  
 

 
PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 
 

1   CLIMATE CHANGE                                                                           (Pages 9 - 20) 
 

 A report by the Chairman of the Member Working Group Councillor Anne Dorrian 

 
2   NIGHT-TIME ECONOMY                                                                 (Pages 21 - 24) 

 
 A report by the Head of Regulatory Services 

 

3   
 

NEW STATUTORY GUIDANCE ON OVERVIEW AND                                              
SCRUTINY IN LOCAL AND COMBINED AUTHORITIES               (Pages 25 - 90) 
 
A report by the Chief Executive 
 

4   WORK PROGRAMME                                                                     (Pages 91 - 92) 
 

 (For Members to note/discuss the Committee’s current work programme) 
 

 
 
 
Notes: 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Karen Rist, 
Democratic Services Officer, Municipal Buildings, Boston, Telephone Number 01205 
314226.    email:  karen.rist@boston.gov.uk  
 
Council Members who are not able to attend the meeting should notify as soon as possible 
giving the name of the Council Member (if any) who will be attending the meeting as their 
substitute. 
 
 
Alternative Versions 
Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format such as larger text, 
Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on direct dial (01205) 
314226 
 
 

Emergency Procedures 
In the event of a fire alarm sounding all attendees are asked to leave the building 

via the nearest emergency exit and make their way to the Fire Assembly Point 
located in the car park at the rear of the Municipal Buildings. 

 



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY - ENVIRONMENT & 
PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 
 

24 September 2019 

Present: Councillor Judith Skinner (Chairman), Councillor Tracey Abbott (Vice-
Chairman), Councillors Peter Bedford, Anton Dani, Deborah Evans, Paul Goodale, 
Neill Hastie, Peter Watson and Judith Welbourn 
 
In attendance:  
 
Officers –  
Chief Executive, Head of Environmental Operations, Head of Place and Space, 
Transformation & Governance Manager and Democratic Services Officer 
 
15   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies for absence were tabled for Councillors Sean Blackman and George Cornah. 
No substitute members. 
 
16   MINUTES 

 
With the agreement of the committee, the Chairman signed the minutes of the previous 
meeting held on the 30 July 2019 
 
17   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
No declarations of interest were tabled. 
 
18   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 
Mr Darron Abbott tabled the following question: 
It appears form the agenda from this evenings meeting a vote was taken by the 
members of this Committee to approve the setting up of a Task and Finish Group into 
the night time economy of Boston is this correct?  
 
The Chairman thanked Mr Abbott for the question and responded as follows: 
As you will see from the minutes of the last meeting, published with the agenda papers 
for tonight’s meeting, specifically minute 13 on page 6, the committee did resolve to 
establish a Task and Finish Group to examine the night time economy of the Public 
Space Protection Order area and the Borough as a whole. 
 
The Chairman then asked Mr Abbott if he had a supplemental question which he tabled 
as follows: 
 
At that same meeting on the 24th July did a discussion take place as to which Councillor 
would Chair the task and finish Group?   If yes was that Councillor present?  If they were 
did they accept the proposed appointment?   At the BTAC meeting on Wednesday 21st 
August Councillor Hastie requested that the report from the Task and Finish group on 
the night time economy " be presented at the next meeting, as he was supposed to be 
the chair and had heard nothing" Will this report be presented at the BTAC meeting on 
the 2nd October 2019 and if not why not?     
 

Page 1

Agenda Item B.



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
24 September 2019 
 

The Chairman thanked Mr Abbott for the supplemental question and stated: 
 

In response to your supplementary question Mr Abbott, no the Chairmanship of a Task 
and Finish Group was not agreed at the meeting, any Chairmanship of a Task and 
Finish Review is agreed at the first meeting of the group in line with Scrutiny Best 
Practice.  It is not for the parent scrutiny committee to agree any Chairmanship.   I am 
further advised that when the subject matter arose at the BTAC meeting the Chairman 
of that committee clearly stated any such review was a Scrutiny matter and not for 

BTAC. 
 
19   BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY 

 
The Chairman introduced Mr Gary Bower and Miss Bethan Griffiths from Boston 
Alternative Energy Facility and welcomed them. 
Mr Bower presented a very comprehensive update supported by a detailed powerpoint 
presentation.  The following minute highlights key points of information: 
Three rounds of public consultation had taken place in September 2018, February 2019 
and in June/July 2019.  The proposed development would be a 102MWe Energy from 
Waste (EfW) advanced gasification facility. It would operate via an import/export wharf, 
providing waste reception and storage export of lightweight aggregates.  The proposed 
development site is 25 ha of land, allocated in the Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste 
Local Plan, as suitable for works on the banks of The Haven.  Both delivery of the refuse 
derived fuel and the export of the lightweight aggregate is by ship. 
The refuse derived fuel (residual household waste) would be plastic wrapped in 1.8cbm 
bales weighing 1.5 tonnes with 620 shipments per year.  It would all be UK collected 
waste with nothing from overseas with off-loading at the site by mobile crane at one of 
the three berthing points. 
Waste would be stored for no longer than 5 days before being shredded to allow non 
suitable items for the gasification process to be removed.   Recyclable products such as 
glass and metal are captured and sent for recycling locally.   The shredded feedstock is 
then transferred via a sealed conveyor to store in silos before gasification and 
conversion into approximately 80 MW of power being exported to the National Grid.  Ash 
from the process is recycled into aggregates for the construction industry which would 
be exported via ship. 
Members were advised that the build would be in line with the best technology available 
to operate efficiently and safely with strict European emission standards.  Liaison with 
the Port of Boston was ongoing in respect of the turning of the ships which would be 
either at the knuckle point or within the dock itself. 
 
Addressing the overall benefits Mr Bower confirmed that, the recovered energy from 1 
million tonnes of RDF would generate power to more than 206,000 homes.  It would also 
reduce the 3.5 million tonnes of waste currently exported and processed abroad. 
With the UK benefitting from generating its own renewable energy, it would allow the UK 
to meet UK renewable energy targets.  The initial construction phase would create 
approximately 300 jobs, and 80 permanent jobs once operational. It would bring new 
skills to the town with the developer engaging with the college in respect of 
apprenticeships.   The facility would also allow local investment opportunities with 
potential exporting of Co2 which was a desirable commodity.  It also had capacity within 
its tolerance level of 1.3 million tonnes, to take the 50,000 tonnes of residual waste for 
South Lincolnshire which was currently transported via road to the EFW at North 
Hykeham.  

Page 2



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
24 September 2019 

 

 
Highway impacts would be experienced due to the large volume of cement needed.  
Local batching was being considered which would significantly reduce the number of 
deliveries.  The developer was committed to the mitigation measures stipulated within 
the Construction Traffic Management Plan.   There would be off-site traffic noise impact 
assessments.  
 
Addressing operational noise members were told that the air-cooled condenser located 
at the south-west of the site was the dominant noise source and the developer would 
work with the technology provider to alter the design to include attenuation measures to 
reduce the noise. 
Any impact on air quality during construction was predicted to be negligible.  The 
contributions of benzo(a)pyrene produced by the facility would be below the required 
environmental assessment levels but with background contributions, there was a 
predicted exceedance. 
There was a predicted exceedance of the 24-hour Oxides of Nitrogen and Hydrogen 
Fluoride levels at Havenside Local Nature Reserve at the closest point to the facility and 
action would be taken to mitigate them. 
Concluding Mr Bower explained that a Development Consent Order would be drafted, 
the Environmental Statement completed and then the application submitted to the 
Planning Inspectorate.  Thereafter if it was accepted, the examining phase would take 
place, ahead of the application being submitted to the Secretary of State.   
 
Mr Bower responded to members questions as follows: 
 

 The site would be the joint largest in the UK once constructed and the tallest 
stack would stand 73 metres tall.  Boston Stump is 83m. 

 Once the power was sold on from the site it was for the distributer to determine 
where it went for usage.  The provider had no authority in the distribution of the 
power. 

 The number of ships per annum visiting the site would be 620:  11 ships per week 
delivering the RDF and 2 exporting the aggregates.  

 The facility would be sealed.  Levels of all emissions would be continually 
monitored and the facility would be built with the technology to allow it to shut 
itself down, should it need to. 

 The initial construction of the silos which were 4000 tonnes each would be a 24 
hour a day operation.   

 The need to use plastic to bind the bales was to ensure secure and strong 
wrapping and also restrain odour.  Once the bales were opened, all the wrapping 
is then put back into the recycling process at the facility ensuring no residual 
plastic waste. 

 There were 2 forms of piling available but the specifics were not known:  one was 
via hammer driving and the second via a vibration method.  Agreement on which 
form would be used had not been finalised. 

 No discussions had been held with Lincolnshire County Council in respect of the 
possibility of the facility receiving the residual waste from the Slippery Gowt 
facility in Boston.  The Development Consent Order was a legal document which 
when agreed would then allow any negotiations to take place in respect of the 
transfer site. 

Page 3



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
24 September 2019 
 

 Where possible local companies would be contracted to provide training for 
specialist skills for both the manufacturing phase and the operational activity of 
the facility. 

 
The chairman invited questions from the floor which Mr Bower answered. 

 
20   CLIMATE CHANGE WORKING GROUP UPDATE 

 
The Chief Executive addressed the meeting and tabled apologies on behalf of the 
Chairman of the group Councillor Anne Dorrian.   
Committee were advised that two meetings of the group had already taken place with 
the third being scheduled for 25th September 2019.  There were 7 meetings scheduled 
to ensure final reporting back to Full Council in December 2019. 
The working group comprised of five Council Members including the Portfolio Holder 
and eight members of staff, plus one co-opted member of the public.  External 
representatives would be invited as required. 
At its first meeting the group had scoped its terms of reference which it agreed needed 
to result in tangible and deliverable recommendations.   It recognised the success of the 
Council’s own Carbon Management Plan to date, in that it had reduced its own carbon 
footprint by 49% since 2008 and agreed its commitment to reducing carbon emissions 
further.  
 
The group recognised the importance of being pragmatic in what it could achieve and 
hopes to suggest 2 areas of climate emissions declaration which currently frame the 
work: 
 

1. What the Council could achieve itself in a practical and achievable way. 
2. Championing with others including partners to look at carbon reduction 

opportunities and action across the Borough geography. 
 
No Member questions were tabled and the Chairman thanked the Chief Executive for 
the update. 

 
21   THE PILGRIMS 2020 AND ALLIED OPPORTUNITIES (UPDATE) 

 
Presenting the report the Head of Space and Place confirmed the report was an update 
to the initial report tabled in January 2018 and then tabled at Cabinet in February 2018 
requesting support for specific elements for funding to progress projects.  Plymouth had 
secured £500k from Visit England in May 2016 with a similar amount being secured in 
2018 from the Department for Culture, Media and Sport.  Boston had benefitted directly 
from the funds resulting in it being included in travel itineraries for 2020; promoted at 
trade fairs and was also featured prominently on national and internationally available 
apps telling the Pilgrim story.    Furthermore interest had increased in the Guildhall and 
the Boston Heritage Trail. 
 
A bid submitted to the Heritage Lottery Fund to build on the Explore and Discover 
project, which would introduce monoliths firstly at Pilgrim specific sites and then sites 
within the town, had been unsuccessful.  
 
 

Page 4



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
24 September 2019 

 

 
As such in line with the tight timescales a reduced scheme was proposed focussing on 
the interpretation of the Pilgrim story.    Boston Borough Council had match funded the 
bid and also secured a further £10k from Lincolnshire County Council but that money 
had been dependant on securing the original bid.  Lincolnshire County Council had then 
agreed a reduced fund of £5k and that money along with the £10k match fund from 
Boston Borough Council had been used to deliver the works. 
 
Referencing the Structures on the Edge project at Havenside members were advised 
that it was hoped that the structure would be in place by July 2020 at Scotia Creek.  
Running alongside this project was that of the bouys.  Five applications for siting them 
had been agreed at the Planning Committee in July 2019, The installations would be 
sited at Haven Bridge, on the High Street, at the Bus Station, alongside the footbridge 
and in Central Park.  
The Council had been asked to join forces with the Poacher Line in April 2020, to 
provide specific information in respect of Boston and its American connections to be 
advertised at Kings Cross Station for a day.  The facility was part of the Community in 
the City initiative which encouraged travel by train supporting rural routes to the City.   
 
In conclusion the Head of Place noted that the list of activities was not exhaustive and 
that as 2020 approached it was likely that additional activity could be incorporated in the 
programme of events. 
 
Member comment and questions followed including: 
 
Noting the app. which provided the half-day tour, a member stated that the period of 
time given would only permit viewing within the actual town itself:  any progression out 
towards the Pilgrims memorial site and further, once the Structure on the Edge was in 
situ at the wash, would be impossible on foot due to time restrictions.  Further concern 
noted it would be very difficult to get coaches up onto the bank.  The Head of Place and 
Space agreed but stressed that the majority of the trail was town centric and that tours 
and visits to the outer town sites could be arranged:  members were advised that 
Fishtoft Parish Council were very active in both the promotion of and possible tourist 
visits to Scotia Creek. 
 
Noting confusion on the cost of the illuminate festivals within appendix 1 for £110k and 
the monies made available by the Controlling Migration fund on page 16 of the report, a 
member asked what the funds on page 14 from ACE were for and if the funds noted 
were all the same.  The Head of Space and Place confirmed that the funds on page 14 
were from a separate funding stream. 
 
Members voiced approval of the events scheduled and suggested / requested that a 
proper tourism offer be established which would be permanent in the town to build a 
reputation and make it a destination.  Concern noted that after 20/20 nothing new would 
arise and the Head of Space and Place assured committee that projects for 2030 were 
already being scoped and there would be significant promotion of the town and all its 
history and future events going forward.  Key to establishing the towns permanent 
heritage would be development of its strong maritime history.  Alongside that would be 
elaboration of the American connection and the importance of Boston, its Grammar 
School [and further information to yet be revealed] in respect of the Pilgrims story and 
early settlers in America from Boston. 

Page 5



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
24 September 2019 
 

 
22   NIGHT TIME ECONOMY 

 
The Head of Environmental Operations advised the committee he was presenting the 
report on behalf of the Head of Regulatory Services. 
Members were reminded that at the committee’s previous meeting held on the 30 July 
2019, having considered a very detailed report in respect of crime and disorder, 
alongside the annual review of anti-social behaviour and the Public space Protection 
Order, they determined that they would like to carry out more in-depth scrutiny of such 
matters and agreed to convene a Task and Finish group.   
 
Members were advised that given the size of the scrutiny task and the wide range of 
areas to consider, officer felt that an Inquiry Day would be the most efficient way to 
progress the task in first instance.  At this session the committee members could receive 
information from Council officers and Lincolnshire Police who had already agreed to 
support the scrutiny process.   
In receiving the information at the Inquiry Session, it would allow the committee to agree 
or not, if a Task and Finish Group was still necessary and to agree the scope and 
reporting arrangements.   
If so, then a report on the Inquiry Session would be taken back to the next scheduled 
meeting of the Committee on the 5th November 2019, at which point members could 
agree or not, to conveve a Task and Finish Group.   If agreed then the Chairman of the 
group would be elected at the first meeting. 
 

Member comment included: 
 

Overall members noted the reasoning for having the Inquiry Session recognising that it 
would allow them to determine if a Task and Finish Group should be convened. 
One member was keen to speak with CCTV Operatives and Anti-Social Behaviour 
Teams from a number of other authorities along with our own, and to also call on 
Enforcement Officers.  
At this point in the proceedings the Portfolio Holder addressed the meeting and urged 
strong caution that the member be aware of being too operational.  As a point of 
clarification and to ensure all members were aware of the process, the Head of 
Environmental Operations confirmed that the Inquiry Day would be the first step.  Should 
members wish to continue scrutiny via a Task and Finish Group, they had the right to do 
so.  
 
It was moved by Councillor Paul Goodale and seconded by Councillor Anton Dani that 
committee agree the officer recommendation and resolve to undertake preliminary 
scrutiny by way of an Inquiry Session. 
The motion was clearly carried. 
 
RESOLVED:  That an Inquiry Session be scheduled ahead of the next meeting of the 
committee on the 5th November 2019 and that a report on the Inquiry Session be tabled 
at that meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
24 September 2019 

 

 
 
23   REPLACEMENT DOMESTIC WHEELED BIN CHARGES 

 
The Head of Environmental Operations addressed the committee confirming the reason 
for the report which was to respond to the resolution agreed by the committee at its last 
meeting on the 24th July 2019 that charges for replacement wheeled bins be added to 
this agenda. 
 
For clarity members were advised that the Brown Bin charges were not in the scope of 
the report as the service is in opt-in discretionary service. The report covered Blue and 
Green bin replacement charges only.    
 
Referencing the 2013/14 annual budget report, the Head of Environmental Operations 
drew members’ attention to the new charge for replacement 240L bins as being £25.00 
per bin.  The budget report had been taken through the Corporate and Community 
Committee on the 17th January 2013; Audit and Governance Committee on the 28 
January 2013, Cabinet on the 20th February and Full Council on the 4 March 2013 for 
formal approval.  The same charge had been included in subsequent budgets for each 
year thereafter up to and including the current financial year. 
 
Since the formal approval of replacement bin charges in 2013/14 budget, it became 
apparent that the charge had not been consistently applied.  On the 14th January 2019 
at an Inquiry Evening held in respect of the draft Waste and Recycling Operational 
Procedures document, at no time during the deliberations were concerns noted by any 
member in respect of the charges for the replacement wheeled bins. 
 
Income from the sale of the replacement bins from 2013/14 to date had been £5,000, 
£4,150 of that amount had been collected since April 2019. 
 
Member comment and questioning included: 
 

A member stated there appeared to be a few discrepancies within the Waste and 
Recycling Operations procedures document with the one tabled within the report.  The 
Head of Environmental Operations agreed that there had been a number of draft 
versions of the procedures but the one on the Council’s website, which had been agreed 
following the Inquiry evening, was the correct one. Clearly set out under Procedure 14 it 
stated that when a bin was damaged in the back of the collection vehicle, a note would 
be made by the crew and the Council would arrange a replacement bin to be delivered 
free of charge. 
 
A number of suggestions by members followed including: 
 

 Developers on new builds taking responsibility for the cost of the initial bins.  
Members were advised this was already in place 

 Charging all residents for their existing bins and making them the owner.  They 
would then be automatically responsible for any bin replacement subject to it 
being damaged by the Council. 

 Charging HMO’s commercial rates and not residential rates for their refuse 
collections.  Members noted that many HMO’s had multiple bins to empty. 

Page 7



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
24 September 2019 
 

 Waiving all replacement charges and looking at the possibility of off-setting the 
replacement costs through the overall waste removal system. 

 Holding a ‘Bin Amnesty’ to allow any unused / unwanted secondary bins to be 
collected freeing up reusable bins. 
 

It was moved by Councillor Deborah Evans and seconded by Councillor Neil Hastie that 
all charges for replacements Green and Blue bins be withdrawn. 
The motion was clearly carried. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   That the Environment and Performance Committee recommend 
to Cabinet that it withdraw all replacement charges for the Green and Blue domestic 
wheeled bins. 
 
24   WORK PROGRAMME 

 
The Transformation and Governance Manager presented the Quarter 1 Performance 
report to committee to support their consideration of the future work programme.   
Addressing the planning applications determined the Transformation and Governance 
Manager noted the improvement in performance with previous red flags having become 
blue.  Red flags on Environmental Services were being addressed through the current 
trial providing separate kerbside collections for paper and card.  Incidents of commercial 
fly tipping had reduced.  Members questioned fly tipping by HMO’s whereby mattresses 
and furniture were just dumped outside the HMO and asked if HMO owners were 
charged for the removal of large scale furniture item and abandoned white goods.  
 
Noting the decline in the markets a member questioned the previous Task and Finish 
Group review and questioned if the outcomes and recommendations had been 
monitored and reported back.   Committee agreed that a report on the outcomes of 
the markets review simply updating on each recommendation be tabled for a 
future meeting. 
 
At this point in the meeting a member questioned the Chairman as to why only one 
portfolio holder had taken the time to turn up at the meeting bearing in mind the number 
of reports on the agenda.  The Chairman confirmed that all portfolio holders were invited 
to attend the meeting. 
 
The Head of Environmental Operations duly noted apologies for Councillor Yvonne 
Stevens for having been unable to attend the meeting due to annual leave. 
 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting Closed at 10.00 pm 
 

Page 8



 

 

 

 

REPORT TO:  ENVIRONMENT & PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 

DATE:   5 NOVEMBER 2020 

SUBJECT:  CLIMATE CHANGE 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR PAUL SKINNER 

REPORT AUTHOR: MADAM CHAIRMAN OF THE CLIMATE CHANGE 
WORKING GROUP 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

 

SUMMARY 
 

To progress the Council resolution to consider environmental and other 
implications associated with climate change and report back with an action 
plan within the requested timeframe. 
 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

That the Environment and Performance Committee (E&P) consider the 
update and information contained within this report for onward referral to 
Council at the meeting to be held on 16 December. 
 
 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

To progress the Council resolution. 
 

 

 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 

None. 
 

 
 
1.0  REPORT 
 
1.1  The Council agenda at the 15 July meeting included two “climate” 

 motions. As a result members voted on a procedural motion.  The effect 
of the procedural motion is to seek E & P consideration and detailed 
 reporting for referral back to Full Council. 

 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 1



 
 
1.2 The Council resolution in full is as follows:- 
 

 
RESOLVED that noting the many impacts on the Council and our partners, it is proposed 
all aspects and issues referred to in both Motions on the agenda be referred to the next 
available meeting of the Environment and Performance Committee for detailed 
consideration and an action plan.  An interim report to be submitted to full Council in 
November 2019 and a final report to Council in January 2020.  
 

 
 
2.0  WORKING GROUP 

 
2.1 This Committee at the meeting held on 30 July established a Working 

Group to progress this activity. 
 

2.2 The Working Group meets informally and reports findings and 
recommendations to the Environment and Performance Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (E&P). The Working Group considers all ‘aspects and 
issues’ referred to in both ‘Motions on Notice’ submitted to the meeting of 
the Council held 15 July 2019. 
 

2.3 The Group provided a verbal update to the 24 September E&P Committee 
and this report provides a summary update to support an interim report to 
the 16 December Council meeting. Final draft recommendations will be 
reported to the 7 January E&P Committee, which will then make 
recommendations to the 20 January 2020 Council meeting. 

 
2.4 The Working Group comprises of five Elected Members including the 

Portfolio Holder, eight members of staff and one co-opted member of the 
public. 

 
2.5 There have been four meetings to date with further meetings scheduled to 

the end of the year. 
 
2.6 Formal Terms of Reference have been agreed by the Group and these are 

appended to the report (Appendix 1). 
 
2.7 Work to date:- 
 

 Reviewed previous and ongoing BBC carbon reduction activity and 

the Carbon Management Plan. 

 Collated all BBC environmental and climate change activity (Air 

Quality, Homes Energy Conservation Act, Private Sector 

Enforcement, etc.) 

 Taken on the Local Government Association good practice advice for 

Councillors. 

 Reviewed other council approaches and best practice publications. 

 Collated a list of external invitees with expertise and insight. 

Page 10



 Agreed an intent to be clear about the differences required for BBC 

to become carbon nett neutral and “leading/championing” others 

within the Borough geography. 

 Begun to explore carbon offsetting potential/opportunities. 

 Begun collating a list of “quick-wins” to include in the final action plan 

recommendations to E&P. 

 Attended the ‘’Ashden’’ Local Authority Climate Change Toolkit 

launch in October. 

 Attended the Western Power event - Transition to a Zero Carbon 

Economy.  

 Consider relevant proposals contained in the Environment Bill 

published 15 October. 

 Draft suggested and costed action plan and implementation timetable 

for consideration at the 7 January Committee meeting. 

 

3.0 CONCLUSION 
 
3.1 Councils are well placed to drive and influence action on climate change 

through the services they deliver, their regulatory and strategic function 
and their roles as community leaders, major employers, large-scale 
procurers and social landlords. 

 
3.2 Action on climate change can deliver many local benefits, including  lower 

energy bills, economic regeneration and creation of local jobs, reductions 
in fuel poverty and improved air quality.  Furthermore, increasing 
resilience to climate change risks can result in avoided costs from flood 
damage to buildings, infrastructure and services, enhances  green spaces 
and improved health. 

 
3.3 However, making a commitment to declare a Climate Change 
 Emergency is multi-faceted and members will want to be well sighted 
 on the policy, process, financial and other considerations such as a 
 timetable in making environmental commitments. 
 
3.4 The Working Group has made excellent progress and is well placed to 

report formally and meet the timetable established at Full Council. 
 
3.5 Between now and Christmas the focus of the Working Group activity will 

be to develop and produce a series of recommendations for the Council to 
consider. Whilst it is currently premature to provide specific detail, the 
following areas are likely to form the basis of potential future 
recommendations:- 

 

 A climate change declaration which is aspirational and deliverable 
in the soonest possible time range. 

 All Council policies and practices to consider environmental 
impacts. 

Page 11



 Lobby for additional resources and support to deliver the carbon 
neutral agenda. 

 A commitment to show geographical and community leadership. 

 Recognise and acknowledge the excellent achievements of the 
Council since 2008. 

 Council buildings and asset audits and action plans. 

 Recommendations for the Council’s procurement practices. 

 Potential for climate champion(s), Citizens Assembly and Climate 
Expo. 

 Others!!! 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
At this point it is not yet established what financial commitment or not the 
Council will be required to make. The Working Group is asked to consider 
such matters in determining any recommendations.  Officers will support the 
process, however additional resource and expertise may be required to 
undertake its work and seek any approvals as necessary. 
 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The UK Climate Change Act of 2008 was the first piece of legislation to legally 
mandate a nation to reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emission - in this case by 
80% of 1990 levels by 2050.  Many countries have subsequently introduced  
their own equivalent legislation and in 2015, the Paris Agreement was signed 
by 197 countries with the aim of limiting “the increase in the global average 
temperature to well below 2◦C above pre-industrial levels and pursuing efforts 
to limit the temperature increase to 1.5◦C above pre-industrial levels”.  The 
2018 Special report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change  
(IPCC) on the impact of a 1.5◦C rise in global temperatures above pre-
industrial levels further highlighted the urgency with which GHG emissions 
must be reduced to avoid the worst impacts of climate change. 
 
In May of 2019, the UK Government declared a non-legally binding Climate 
Change Emergency declaration.   
 

 

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
None. 
 

 
CONSULTATION 
 
No consultation undertaken. 
 
 
 

Page 12



 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

APPENDIX 1 Climate Change Working Group - Terms of 
Reference 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government 
Act 1972 were used in the production of this report.  
 

 
 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

 
A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



 
 
 

Page 14



APPENDIX 1 
 
CLIMATE CHANGE WORKING GROUP 
 
Scope:  
 
As a Working Group (The Group) reporting to the Environment and 
Performance Overview and Scrutiny Committee (E&P), to consider all 
‘aspects and issues’ (The Task) referred to in both ‘Motions on Notice’ 
submitted to the meeting of the Council held 15 July 2019 and deliver the 
resolution of the Council held 15 July 2019. 
 
These motions are attached as Appendix 1.  
 
Terms of Reference:  
 
To establish a meeting frequency, resources and working methodology to 
progress the task. 
 
To agree membership of the group drawn from the Council member and 
officer core. 
 
To call additional external individuals and parties to join the Group.  
 
To determine whom to call to provide information, support, expertise and 
assistance. 
 
To provide an update to the 24 September 2019 and 5 November 2019 E&P. 
   
To support E&P in providing an interim report to the 16 December 2019 
Council meeting. 
 
To submit final recommendations to the 7 January 2020 E&P. 
 
To support E&P in providing a final report and recommendations to the 20 
January 2020 Council meeting. 
 
Specific Actions contained in the task: 
 
1. Commit to endeavour to make the Council’s activities carbon neutral by 

2030/2050/?? 
 
2.  Commit to working in partnership with, but not exclusively, the LGA, 

County, District and Parish Councils in Lincolnshire, local businesses and 
community groups with the aim of making Lincolnshire carbon neutral 
within the same timescale. 

 
3.  Call upon central government to provide the necessary powers and 

resources to achieve or better a 2050 target. 
 

Page 15



4.  Note the progress this Council has made in reducing carbon emissions. 
 
5.  Declare a ‘Climate Emergency’. 
 
6.  Produce an action plan with annual monitoring and review. 
 
7.  Formally acknowledge the impacts of climate change and the serious 

exponential damage caused around the world each year by C02 and 
temperature rise. 

 
8.  Recognise that limiting global warming may still be possible with 

ambitious action from national and sub-national authorities, civil society 
and the private sector and ‘’the duty’’ we all have to act, now. 

 
9.  Acknowledge that strong policies to cut emissions also have associated 

health, wellbeing and economic benefits. 
 
10.  Recognise what others are doing and that a growing number of UK local 

authorities have already passed ‘Climate Emergency’ motions. 
 
11.  Ensure that all strategic decisions, budgets and approaches to planning 

decisions are in line with a shift to zero carbon by an agreed date. 
 
12.  Embed this work in all areas to reduce as rapidly as possible the carbon 

emissions from the Council’s activities. 
 
13.  Ensure that ALL council reports include climate change implications. 
 
14.  Take steps to proactively include young people in the process, ensuring 

that they have a powerful voice in shaping the future. 
 
15. Request that the Portfolio holder with responsibility for Climate Change 

convene a Citizens’ Assembly in 2019 in order to involve the wider 
population of the Borough. 

 
1. This Council: 
 
1. Commits to make the Council’s activities carbon neutral by 2050. 
 
2. Commits to working in partnership with, but not exclusively, the LGA, 

County Council and Parish Councils in Lincolnshire, local businesses and 
community groups with the aim of making Lincolnshire carbon neutral 
within the same timescale. 

 
3. Calls on central government to provide the necessary powers and 

resources to achieve or better the 2050 target. 
 
4.  Notes the progress this Council has made in reducing carbon emissions. 
 
5.  Notes the declaration of a ‘Climate Emergency’. 

Page 16



 
6.  Will receive an update on policy, details of action taken, an action plan, this 

will include annual reviews for the period up to 2030. 
 
2. This Council notes: 
 
That the impacts of climate breakdown are already causing serious damage 
around the world and as each year passes, we experience it. 
 
That the ‘Special Report on Global Warming of 1.5 degC’, published by the 
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) in October 2018; 
 
(a)  Describes the enormous harm that a C02 average rise in global 

temperatures is likely to cause compared with a 1.5 degC rise, and; 
 
(b) Confirms that limiting Global Warming to 1.5 degC may still be possible 

with ambitious action from national and sub-national authorities, civil 
society and the private sector. 

 
That all governments (national, regional and local) have a duty to act, and 
local governments that recognise this should not wait for their national 
governments to change their policies. 
 
That we are not experts in this field, but that is no excuse for inaction. 
 
That collectively as a local community, we need guidance, education, support, 
encouragement and structure in order to effect change. 
 
That strong policies to cut emissions also have associated health, wellbeing 
and economic benefits; and 
 
That recognising this, a growing number of UK local authorities have already 
passed ‘Climate Emergency’ motions. 
 
This Council therefore commits to: 
 
Declare a ‘climate emergency’ that requires urgent action. 
 
Endeavour to make the Council’s activities net-zero carbon by 2030. 
 
Endeavour to achieve 100% clean energy across the Council’s full range of 
functions by 2030. 
 
Ensure that all strategic decisions, budgets and approaches to planning 
decisions are in line with a shift to zero carbon by 2030. 
 
Support and work with all other relevant agencies towards making the entire 
area zero carbon within the same timescale. 
 
 

Page 17



 
 
Ensure that elected members together with officers embed this work in all 
areas and take responsibility for reducing as rapidly as possible, the carbon 
emissions resulting from the Council’s activities, ensuring that any new 
recommendations are fully costed and that the Cabinet and Scrutiny 
committees review council activities taking account of production and 
consumption emissions and produce an action plan within 12 months, 
together with budget actions and a measured baseline. 

 
Wherever possible, work with, influence and inspire partners across the 
district, county and region to help deliver this goal through all relevant 
strategies, plans and shared resources by developing a series of meetings, 
events and partner workshops. 

 
Request that the Council and partners take steps to include proactively young 
people in the process, ensuring that they have a powerful voice in shaping the 
future. 

 
Request that the Portfolio holder with responsibility for Climate Change 
convenes a Citizens’ Assembly in 2019 in order to involve the wider 
population of the Borough in this process. This group would help develop their 
own role, identify how the Council’s activities might be made net-zero carbon 
by 2030, consider the latest climate science and expert advice on solutions 
and to consider systematically the climate change impact of each area of the 
Council’s activities. It will also recommend ways to maximise local benefits of 
these actions in other sectors such as employment, health, agriculture, 
transport and economy. 

 
Report on the level of investment in the fossil fuel industry that our pensions 
plan and other investments have, and review the Council’s investment 
strategy to give due consideration to climate change impacts in the 
investment portfolio. 

 
Ensure that all reports in preparation for the 2020/21 budget cycle and 
investment strategy will take into account the actions the council will take to 
address this emergency. 

 
Call on the UK Government to provide the powers, resources and help with 
funding to make this possible, and ask our local MP to do likewise. 

 
To review this motion annually in order to keep clear track of progress and to 
make adjustment as necessary. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



 
 
EXTRACT FROM THE DRAFT MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF FULL 
COUNCIL 
HELD - 15 JULY 2019 
 
 
Motions on Notice - Climate Change 
 
Two Motions on Notice had been received in respect of climate change, and 
the Council’s response to those issues. 
  
 
RESOLVED that noting the many impacts on the Council and our 
partners, it is proposed all aspects and issues referred to in both 
Motions on the agenda be referred to the next available meeting of the 
Environment and Performance Committee for detailed consideration and 
an action plan. An interim report to be submitted to full Council in 
November 2019 and a final report to Council in January 2020. 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: ENVIRONMENT AND PERFORMANCE 
COMMITTEE  

DATE: 5 NOVEMBER 2019 

SUBJECT: NIGHT TIME ECONOMY INQUIRY EVENING 
UPDATE   

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR PAUL SKINNER 

REPORT AUTHOR: HEAD OF REGULATORY SERVICES 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

 

SUMMARY 
 
Following the resolution made at its meeting on 24 September 2019, an 
Inquiry Evening into the ‘night time economy’ was held for all elected 
members on 14 October 2019.  The evening was chaired by the Head of 
Regulatory Services with support from Lincolnshire Police and the Council’s 
Community Safety Manager.   
 
The purpose of the Inquiry Evening was to define exactly what topics and 
issues members want to consider under the proposed ‘night-time economy 
task and finish group’?  Following extensive debate, members did however 
agree that the issues they wanted to consider further were wider than 
‘typically defined’ night-time economy issues.   
 
As a consequence, those members present recommended to E&P that it 
consider setting up a Task and Finish Group that seeks evidence and 
information from various Council teams and external organisations about their 
purpose, process and impact.  The areas members wished to review were: 
 

 Alcohol and premises licensing and associated enforcement. 

 Trading Standards and HMRC powers, policies, procedures and 
enforcement options/outcomes for dealing counterfeit and non-duty 
paid goods. 

 Home Office and Police powers, powers, policies and procedures for 
dealing with those with no recourse to public funds and those not 
exercising their treaty rights. 

 Housing and Homelessness duties, options, powers and support 
models. 

 Boston Borough Council Public Space Protection Orders and other 
BBC enforcement, and finally,  

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 2



 

2 

 

 A closing session with the MP to air all relevant legal and resource 
limitations returned from the Task and Finish process that it wishes to 
be raised directly with the Government. 
 

In considering the recommendation, the Committee may want to prescriptive 
about the outputs that it wishes to see from the Group and will need to 
consider both the member and officer capacity, together with an appropriate 
timeframe within its workplan, that enables another T&F Group to be 
appropriately resourced.  
 
Given the current work activity of the Climate Change Working Group and 
with  Christmas/New Year commitments of Officers and Members, if 
approved, members should be mindful that the T&F Group work is unlikely to 
be able to commence until January/February 2020 
 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That the Environment and Performance Committee establish a Task and 
Finish Group, as recommended by those members present at the Inquiry 
Evening.   
 
 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The recommendations were made by those members attending the Inquiry 
Evening. 
 
 

 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
None. 
 

 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
N/A 
 

 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
None considered at this stage 
 

 
 
 

Page 22



 

3 

 

 
 

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
With any T&F Group, member and officer capacity, both internally and from 
other organisations will need to be carefully considered 

 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Inquiry Evening held on 14 October 2019. 
  

APPENDICES 
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

APPENDIX  NONE 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government 
Act 1972 were used in the production of this report.  
 

 
 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

 
A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council  

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: ENVIRONMENT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 

DATE: 5 NOVEMBER 2019 

SUBJECT: NEW STATUTORY GUIDANCE ON OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY IN LOCAL AND COMBINED AUTHORITIES 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: N/A 

REPORT AUTHOR: CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 
 
In May 2019 the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) 
published new statutory guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in Local and Combined 
Authorities having taken into account the findings and recommendations of the House of 
Commons CLG Committee report on the effectiveness of local authority Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees, which was published in December 2017. 
 
The guidance attached as Appendix 1, seeks to ensure local authorities are aware of the 
purpose of overview and scrutiny, what effective scrutiny looks like, how to conduct it 
effectively and the benefits it can bring. 
 
Whilst recognising that authorities themselves are best placed to know which scrutiny 
arrangements are most appropriate for their own individual circumstances, the Ministerial 
forward urges all councils to cast a critical eye over their existing arrangements to ensure 
that the principles of effective scrutiny are embedded in practice.  
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. That the Committee considers the attached statutory guidance on overview and 

scrutiny in local and combined authorities, reflects on the approach to scrutiny in 
Boston, and, if required, recommends changes to full Council, to ensure that 
overview and scrutiny in Boston is conducted in accordance with the published 
guidance. 

 
2. That the draft Cabinet/Scrutiny Relations Protocol set out at Appendix 3, be 

recommended to Cabinet for referral to full Council. 
 
The comments from the Corporate and Community Committee will also be forwarded to 
full Council.  
 
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 25

Agenda Item 3



 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
To ensure overview and scrutiny is operating in accordance with statutory guidance. 
 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
None. 
 

 

REPORT 
 
1. Background 
 
1.1 In December 2017 a House of Commons (Department of Communities and local 

Government) Select Committee published its report on the Effectiveness of Local 
Authority Overview and Scrutiny Committees, having considered information and 
evidence from a range of organisations and witnesses. 

 
1.2 The Select Committee Inquiry was prompted by concerns expressed about the 

limited effectiveness of Overview and Scrutiny and the lack of any assessment of 
how Overview and Scrutiny had been operating since it was introduced by the 
Local Government Act 2000 as a counterweight to the increased centralised power 
of the new executive arrangements.  

 
1.3 The Inquiry considered the ability of Overview and Scrutiny Committees to hold 

decision makers to account, the impact of party politics on scrutiny, resourcing of 
committees and the ability of scrutiny committees to have oversight of services 
delivered by external organisations.  

 
1.4 The Select Committee made 21 findings and recommendations underpinned by 

two key conclusions; that effective scrutiny requires the right organisational culture, 
working best where constructive challenge and democratic accountability is 
welcomed and the independence of Overview and Scrutiny needs strengthening.   

 
1.5 In particular the Select Committee called on the government to revise and re-issue 

the statutory guidance issued to Councils in 2006, under the Local Government Act 
2000, to take into account the evolving role of scrutiny.  It also called on the Local 
Government Association to consider how it can best provide a mechanism for the 
sharing of innovation and best practice across the scrutiny sector to enable 
Committees to learn from one another.  

 
1.6 In March 2018 the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 

Government published the Government response to the Select Committee report 
stating its belief that every Council is best placed to decide which scrutiny 
arrangements suit its individual circumstances and committing to ensure that they 
have the flexibility they need to put those arrangements in place.  The Government, 
in its response, committed to revise and re-issue the statutory guidance on 
Overview and Scrutiny. 

 
1.7 The revised guidance was published in May 2019 and is attached at Appendix 1. 
 

Page 26



1.8 The Centre for Public Scrutiny, a national centre of expertise on scrutiny, assisted 
in drafting the new guidance and has published an update to their Good Scrutiny 
Guide which has been written to complement the statutory guidance.  

 
2. Overview and Analysis of the Statutory Guidance 
 
2.1 The introduction to the new statutory guidance states that Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees were introduced in 2000 as part of new executive arrangements to 
ensure that Members of an authority who were not part of the executive could hold 
the executive to account for the decisions and actions that affect their communities. 

 
2.2 Overview and Scrutiny Committees have statutory powers to scrutinise decisions 

the executive is planning to take, those it plans to implement and those that have 
already been taken/implemented.  The Guidance emphasises that 
recommendations following scrutiny enable improvements to be made to policies 
and how they are implemented and also that overview and scrutiny can play a 
valuable role in developing policy.  

 
2.3 The Guidance restates the four principles of effective overview and scrutiny which 

should:-  
 

 Provide constructive “critical friends” challenge; 

 Amplify the voices and concerns of the public; 

 Be led by independent people who take responsibility for their role; and  

 Drive improvement in public services. 
 
2.4 The guidance highlights that legislation provides a great degree of flexibility to local 

authorities to determine which overview and scrutiny arrangements best suit their 
own individual needs and that the government, in producing the guidance, fully 
recognises the democratic mandate of local authorities as well as the changing 
nature of local government with Councils increasingly delivering key services in 
partnership with other organisations or outsourcing entirely.  

 
2.5 The key messages in the guidance are summarised below:-  
 

o Culture – the prevailing organisational culture, behaviours, and attitudes of 
an authority will largely determine whether its scrutiny functions succeeds or 
fails. 

 
o Resourcing – the resource an authority allocates to the scrutiny function will 

play a pivotal role in determining how successful that function is and 
therefore the value it can add to the work of the authority.  

 
o Selection of Committee Members – the right people have to be selected to 

be on committees, and to hold the position of Chairman.  The guidance 
gives a sense of the personal attributes that people in these positions will 
require.  It recognises the political element of the selection of Chairmen and 
suggests that local authorities should consider taking a vote by secret ballot, 
although ultimately the method for selecting Chairmen is a matter for each 
local authority to decide. 

 

Page 27



o Power to Access Information – a scrutiny committee needs access to 
relevant information the authority holds, and to receive it in good time if it is 
to do its job effectively.  This section emphasises the rights that Councillors 
have to access information and states that Councillors should have regular 
access to key sources of information which, collectively, will give them a 
sense of the management of the authority, with a particular focus on 
performance, finance and risk. 

 
o Planning Work – effective scrutiny should have a defined impact on the 

ground, with the committees making recommendations that will make a 
tangible difference to the work of the authority.  To have this kind of impact, 
overview and scrutiny committees need to plan their work programme with 
arrangements in place for a co-ordinated approach.  

 
o Evidence Sessions – good preparation is a vital part of conducting effective 

evidence sessions.  The role of Chairman in managing the gathering of 
evidence is seen as especially important, as is the work of councillors in 
pulling together focused and achievable recommendations.  

 
2.6 The Centre for Public Scrutiny expects to publish a new guide for local authorities 

on effective scrutiny in the Autumn 2019. 
 
3. Next Steps 
 
3.1 A summary on how Boston compares to the recommended good practice in the 

guidance is attached at Appendix 2 for consideration, together with a draft 
Executive - Overview and Scrutiny Relations Protocol as mentioned as good 
practice within the statutory guidance, attached at Appendix 3.  

 
3.2 The current overview and scrutiny arrangements in place are largely consistent 

with the recommendations, but the committee is invited to comment on key aspects 
which may require revision to current practices, including the adoption of an 
Executive – Scrutiny Protocol.  

 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
None. 
 

 

LEGAL & EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
The statutory guidance has been issued under Section 9Q of the Local Government Act 
2000 and under paragraph 2(9) of Schedule 5A to the Local Democracy, Economic 
Development and construction Act 2009, which requires local authorities to have regard 
to the guidance.  In addition, when exercising its overview and scrutiny functions, the 
Council may have regard to other material they might choose to consider, including that 
issued by the Centre for Public Scrutiny.  
 

 
 
 

Page 28



ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
If the Council is assessed as having failed to comply with the statutory guidance it could 
impact on the reputation of the scrutiny function and the reputation of the Council.  
 

 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Corporate and Community Committee – 16 October 2019 
 
 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

APPENDIX 1 Statutory Guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in Local 
and Combined Authorities  
 

APPENDIX 2 Analysis of Statutory Guidance and comparison of 
current arrangements  
 

APPENIDX 3 Executive – Overview and Scrutiny Relations Protocol 
 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 
 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 
 

Statutory Guidance on Overview 
and Scrutiny in Local and 
combined Authorities 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/overview-
and-scrutiny-statutory-guidance-for-councils-and-
combined-authorities 
 

 
 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

 
Corporate and Community Committee – 16 October 2019 
 

 
 

Page 29

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/overview-and-scrutiny-statutory-guidance-for-councils-and-combined-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/overview-and-scrutiny-statutory-guidance-for-councils-and-combined-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/overview-and-scrutiny-statutory-guidance-for-councils-and-combined-authorities


This page is intentionally left blank



 

May 2019 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

 

 

 

 

Statutory Guidance on Overview and 
Scrutiny in Local and Combined Authorities 

 

APPENDIX 1

Page 31



 

 

 

© Crown copyright, 2019 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, 
under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit 
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/ 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg 

May 2019 

ISBN: 978-1-4098-5458-6

Page 32

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.gov.uk/mhclg
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/mhclg


 

3 

Contents 

Ministerial Foreword 4 

About this Guidance 5 

1. Introduction and Context 7 

2. Culture 8 

3. Resourcing 13 

4. Selecting Committee Members 15 

5. Power to Access Information 18 

6. Planning Work 21 

7. Evidence Sessions 25 

Annex 1: Illustrative Scenario – Creating an Executive-Scrutiny Protocol 27 

Annex 2: Illustrative Scenario – Engaging Independent Technical Advisers 28 

Annex 3: Illustrative Scenario – Approaching an External Organisation to Appear 
before a Committee 30 

 

 

Page 33



 

4 

Ministerial Foreword 

The role that overview and scrutiny can play in holding an authority’s decision-makers to 
account makes it fundamentally important to the successful functioning of local 
democracy. Effective scrutiny helps secure the efficient delivery of public services and 
drives improvements within the authority itself. Conversely, poor scrutiny can be indicative 
of wider governance, leadership and service failure. 
 
It is vital that councils and combined authorities know the purpose of scrutiny, what 
effective scrutiny looks like, how to conduct it and the benefits it can bring. This guidance 
aims to increase understanding in all four areas. 
 
In writing this guidance, my department has taken close note of the House of Commons 
Select Committee report of December 2017, as well as the written and oral evidence 
supplied to that Committee. We have also consulted individuals and organisations with 
practical involvement in conducting, researching and supporting scrutiny. 
 
It is clear from speaking to these practitioners that local and combined authorities with 
effective overview and scrutiny arrangements in place share certain key traits, the most 
important being a strong organisational culture. Authorities who welcome challenge and 
recognise the value scrutiny can bring reap the benefits. But this depends on strong 
commitment from the top - from senior members as well as senior officials. 
 
Crucially, this guidance recognises that authorities have democratic mandates and are 
ultimately accountable to their electorates, and that authorities themselves are best-placed 
to know which scrutiny arrangements are most appropriate for their own individual 
circumstances. 
 
I would, however, strongly urge all councils to cast a critical eye over their existing 
arrangements and, above all, ensure they embed a culture that allows overview and 
scrutiny to flourish. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
      Rishi Sunak MP 
     Minister for Local Government 

  

Page 34



 

5 

About this Guidance 

Who the guidance is for 
This document is aimed at local authorities and combined authorities in England to help 
them carry out their overview and scrutiny functions effectively. In particular, it provides 
advice for senior leaders, members of overview and scrutiny committees, and support 
officers. 
 

Aim of the guidance 
This guidance seeks to ensure local authorities and combined authorities are aware of the 
purpose of overview and scrutiny, what effective scrutiny looks like, how to conduct it 
effectively and the benefits it can bring. 
 
As such, it includes a number of policies and practices authorities should adopt or should 
consider adopting when deciding how to carry out their overview and scrutiny functions. 
 
The guidance recognises that authorities approach scrutiny in different ways and have 
different processes and procedures in place, and that what might work well for one 
authority might not work well in another. 
 
The hypothetical scenarios contained in the annexes to this guidance have been included 
for illustrative purposes, and are intended to provoke thought and discussion rather than 
serve as a ‘best’ way to approach the relevant issues. 
 
While the guidance sets out some of the key legal requirements, it does not seek to 
replicate legislation. 
 

Status of the guidance 
This is statutory guidance from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government. Local authorities and combined authorities must have regard to it when 
exercising their functions. The phrase ‘must have regard’, when used in this context, does 
not mean that the sections of statutory guidance have to be followed in every detail, but 
that they should be followed unless there is a good reason not to in a particular case. 
 
Not every authority is required to appoint a scrutiny committee. This guidance applies to 
those authorities who have such a committee in place, whether they are required to or not. 
 
This guidance has been issued under section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000 and 
under paragraph 2(9) of Schedule 5A to the Local Democracy, Economic Development 
and Construction Act 2009, which requires authorities to have regard to this guidance. In 
addition, authorities may have regard to other material they might choose to consider, 
including that issued by the Centre for Public Scrutiny, when exercising their overview and 
scrutiny functions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



 

6 

Terminology 
Unless ‘overview’ is specifically mentioned, the term ‘scrutiny’ refers to both overview and 
scrutiny.1 

 
Where the term ‘authority’ is used, it refers to both local authorities and combined 
authorities. 
 
Where the term ‘scrutiny committee’ is used, it refers to an overview and scrutiny 
committee and any of its sub-committees. As the legislation refers throughout to powers 
conferred on scrutiny committees, that is the wording used in this guidance. However, the 
guidance should be seen as applying equally to work undertaken in informal task and 
finish groups, commissioned by formal committees. 
 
Where the term ‘executive’ is used, it refers to executive members. 
 
For combined authorities, references to the ‘executive’ or ‘cabinet’ should be interpreted as 
relating to the mayor (where applicable) and all the authority members. 
 
For authorities operating committee rather than executive arrangements, references to the 
executive or Cabinet should be interpreted as relating to councillors in leadership 
positions. 
 

Expiry or review date 
This guidance will be kept under review and updated as necessary. 
  

                                            
 
1 A distinction is often drawn between ‘overview’ which focuses on the development of 
policy, and ‘scrutiny’ which looks at decisions that have been made or are about to be 
made to ensure they are fit for purpose. 

Page 36



 

7 

1. Introduction and Context 

1. Overview and scrutiny committees were introduced in 2000 as part of new 
executive governance arrangements to ensure that members of an authority who 
were not part of the executive could hold the executive to account for the decisions 
and actions that affect their communities. 

 
2. Overview and scrutiny committees have statutory powers2 to scrutinise decisions 

the executive is planning to take, those it plans to implement, and those that have 
already been taken/implemented. Recommendations following scrutiny enable 
improvements to be made to policies and how they are implemented. Overview and 
scrutiny committees can also play a valuable role in developing policy. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

3. The requirement for local authorities in England to establish overview and scrutiny 
committees is set out in sections 9F to 9FI of the Local Government Act 2000 as 
amended by the Localism Act 2011. 

 
4. The Localism Act 2011 amended the Local Government Act 2000 to allow councils 

to revert to a non-executive form of governance - the ‘committee system’. Councils 
who adopt the committee system are not required to have overview and scrutiny but 
may do so if they wish. The legislation has been strengthened and updated since 
2000, most recently to reflect new governance arrangements with combined 
authorities. Requirements for combined authorities are set out in Schedule 5A to the 
Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 

 
5. Current overview and scrutiny legislation recognises that authorities are 

democratically-elected bodies who are best-placed to determine which overview 
and scrutiny arrangements best suit their own individual needs, and so gives them a 
great degree of flexibility to decide which arrangements to adopt. 

 
6. In producing this guidance, the Government fully recognises both authorities’ 

democratic mandate and that the nature of local government has changed in recent 
years, with, for example, the creation of combined authorities, and councils 
increasingly delivering key services in partnership with other organisations or 
outsourcing them entirely. 

  

                                            
 
2 Section 9F of the Local Government Act 2000; paragraph 1 of Schedule 5A to the Local 
Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 

Effective overview and scrutiny should: 

• Provide constructive ‘critical friend’ challenge; 

• Amplify the voices and concerns of the public; 

• Be led by independent people who take responsibility for their 
role; and 

• Drive improvement in public services. 
 

Page 37



 

8 

2. Culture 

7. The prevailing organisational culture, behaviours and attitudes of an authority will 
largely determine whether its scrutiny function succeeds or fails. 

 
8. While everyone in an authority can play a role in creating an environment conducive 

to effective scrutiny, it is important that this is led and owned by members, given 
their role in setting and maintaining the culture of an authority. 
 

9. Creating a strong organisational culture supports scrutiny work that can add real 
value by, for example, improving policy-making and the efficient delivery of public 
services. In contrast, low levels of support for and engagement with the scrutiny 
function often lead to poor quality and ill-focused work that serves to reinforce the 
perception that it is of little worth or relevance. 

 
10. Members and senior officers should note that the performance of the scrutiny 

function is not just of interest to the authority itself. Its effectiveness, or lack thereof, 
is often considered by external bodies such as regulators and inspectors, and 
highlighted in public reports, including best value inspection reports. Failures in 
scrutiny can therefore help to create a negative public image of the work of an 
authority as a whole. 

 
How to establish a strong organisational culture 

11. Authorities can establish a strong organisational culture by: 
 

a) Recognising scrutiny’s legal and democratic legitimacy – all members and 
officers should recognise and appreciate the importance and legitimacy the 
scrutiny function is afforded by the law. It was created to act as a check and 
balance on the executive and is a statutory requirement for all authorities 
operating executive arrangements and for combined authorities. 
 
Councillors have a unique legitimacy derived from their being democratically 
elected. The insights that they can bring by having this close connection to local 
people are part of what gives scrutiny its value.  
 

b) Identifying a clear role and focus – authorities should take steps to ensure 
scrutiny has a clear role and focus within the organisation, i.e. a niche within 
which it can clearly demonstrate it adds value. Therefore, prioritisation is 
necessary to ensure the scrutiny function concentrates on delivering work that 
is of genuine value and relevance to the work of the wider authority – this is one 
of the most challenging parts of scrutiny, and a critical element to get right if it is 
to be recognised as a strategic function of the authority (see chapter 6). 
 
Authorities should ensure a clear division of responsibilities between the 
scrutiny function and the audit function. While it is appropriate for scrutiny to pay 
due regard to the authority’s financial position, this will need to happen in the 
context of the formal audit role. The authority’s section 151 officer should advise 
scrutiny on how to manage this dynamic. 

Page 38



 

9 

 
While scrutiny has no role in the investigation or oversight of the authority’s 
whistleblowing arrangements, the findings of independent whistleblowing 
investigations might be of interest to scrutiny committees as they consider their 
wider implications. Members should always follow the authority’s constitution 
and associated Monitoring Officer directions on the matter. Further guidance on 
whistleblowing can be found at: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/att
achment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employers-
and-code-of-practice.pdf. 
 

c) Ensuring early and regular engagement between the executive and 
scrutiny – authorities should ensure early and regular discussion takes place 
between scrutiny and the executive, especially regarding the latter’s future work 
programme. Authorities should, though, be mindful of their distinct roles: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
d) Managing disagreement – effective scrutiny involves looking at issues that can 

be politically contentious. It is therefore inevitable that, at times, an executive 
will disagree with the findings or recommendations of a scrutiny committee. 
 
It is the job of both the executive and scrutiny to work together to reduce the risk 
of this happening, and authorities should take steps to predict, identify and act 
on disagreement. 
 
One way in which this can be done is via an ‘executive-scrutiny protocol’ (see 
annex 1) which can help define the relationship between the two and mitigate 
any differences of opinion before they manifest themselves in unhelpful and 
unproductive ways. The benefit of this approach is that it provides a framework 
for disagreement and debate, and a way to manage it when it happens. Often, 

In particular: 
 

• The executive should not try to exercise control over the work of 
the scrutiny committee. This could be direct, e.g. by purporting to 
‘order’ scrutiny to look at, or not look at, certain issues, or 
indirect, e.g. through the use of the whip or as a tool of political 
patronage, and the committee itself should remember its 
statutory purpose when carrying out its work. All members and 
officers should consider the role the scrutiny committee plays to 
be that of a ‘critical friend’ not a de facto ‘opposition’. Scrutiny 
chairs have a particular role to play in establishing the profile and 
nature of their committee (see chapter 4); and 

 

• The chair of the scrutiny committee should determine the nature 
and extent of an executive member’s participation in a scrutiny 
committee meeting, and in any informal scrutiny task group 
meeting. 

Page 39

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employers-and-code-of-practice.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employers-and-code-of-practice.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employers-and-code-of-practice.pdf


 

10 

the value of such a protocol lies in the dialogue that underpins its preparation. It 
is important that these protocols are reviewed on a regular basis. 
 
Scrutiny committees do have the power to ‘call in’ decisions, i.e. ask the 
executive to reconsider them before they are implemented, but should not view 
it as a substitute for early involvement in the decision-making process or as a 
party-political tool. 
 

e) Providing the necessary support – while the level of resource allocated to 
scrutiny is for each authority to decide for itself, when determining resources an 
authority should consider the purpose of scrutiny as set out in legislation and 
the specific role and remit of the authority’s own scrutiny committee(s), and the 
scrutiny function as a whole. 
 
Support should also be given by members and senior officers to scrutiny 
committees and their support staff to access information held by the authority 
and facilitate discussions with representatives of external bodies (see chapter 
5). 
 

f) Ensuring impartial advice from officers – authorities, particularly senior 
officers, should ensure all officers are free to provide impartial advice to scrutiny 
committees. This is fundamental to effective scrutiny. Of particular importance is 
the role played by ‘statutory officers’ – the monitoring officer, the section 151 
officer and the head of paid service, and where relevant the statutory scrutiny 
officer. These individuals have a particular role in ensuring that timely, relevant 
and high-quality advice is provided to scrutiny.  
 

g) Communicating scrutiny’s role and purpose to the wider authority – the 
scrutiny function can often lack support and recognition within an authority 
because there is a lack of awareness among both members and officers about 
the specific role it plays, which individuals are involved and its relevance to the 
authority’s wider work. Authorities should, therefore, take steps to ensure all 
members and officers are made aware of the role the scrutiny committee plays 
in the organisation, its value and the outcomes it can deliver, the powers it has, 
its membership and, if appropriate, the identity of those providing officer 
support. 
 

h) Maintaining the interest of full Council in the work of the scrutiny 
committee – part of communicating scrutiny’s role and purpose to the wider 
authority should happen through the formal, public role of full Council – 
particularly given that scrutiny will undertake valuable work to highlight 
challenging issues that an authority will be facing and subjects that will be a 
focus of full Council’s work. Authorities should therefore take steps to ensure full 
Council is informed of the work the scrutiny committee is doing. 
 
One way in which this can be done is by reports and recommendations being 
submitted to full Council rather than solely to the executive. Scrutiny should 
decide when it would be appropriate to submit reports for wider debate in this 
way, taking into account the relevance of reports to full Council business, as 
well as full Council’s capacity to consider and respond in a timely manner. Such 

Page 40



 

11 

reports would supplement the annual report to full Council on scrutiny’s 
activities and raise awareness of ongoing work. 
 
In order to maintain awareness of scrutiny at the Combined Authority and 
provoke dialogue and discussion of its impact, the business of scrutiny should 
be reported to the Combined Authority board or to the chairs of the relevant 
scrutiny committees of constituent and non-constituent authorities, or both. At 
those chairs’ discretion, particular Combined Authority scrutiny outcomes, and 
what they might mean for each individual area, could be either discussed by 
scrutiny in committee or referred to full Council of the constituent authorities.  
 

i) Communicating scrutiny’s role to the public – authorities should ensure 
scrutiny has a profile in the wider community. Consideration should be given to 
how and when to engage the authority’s communications officers, and any other 
relevant channels, to understand how to get that message across. This will 
usually require engagement early on in the work programming process (see 
chapter 6). 
 

j) Ensuring scrutiny members are supported in having an independent 
mindset – formal committee meetings provide a vital opportunity for scrutiny 
members to question the executive and officers. 
 
Inevitably, some committee members will come from the same political party as 
a member they are scrutinising and might well have a long-standing personal, 
or familial, relationship with them (see paragraph 25). 
 
Scrutiny members should bear in mind, however, that adopting an independent 
mind-set is fundamental to carrying out their work effectively. In practice, this is 
likely to require scrutiny chairs working proactively to identify any potentially 
contentious issues and plan how to manage them. 

 
Directly-elected mayoral systems 

12. A strong organisational culture that supports scrutiny work is particularly important 
in authorities with a directly-elected mayor to ensure there are the checks and 
balances to maintain a robust democratic system. Mayoral systems offer the 
opportunity for greater public accountability and stronger governance, but there 
have also been incidents that highlight the importance of creating and maintaining a 
culture that puts scrutiny at the heart of its operations.  

 
13. Authorities with a directly-elected mayor should ensure that scrutiny committees are 

well-resourced, are able to recruit high-calibre members and that their scrutiny 
functions pay particular attention to issues surrounding: 

• rights of access to documents by the press, public and councillors; 

• transparent and fully recorded decision-making processes, especially 
avoiding decisions by ‘unofficial’ committees or working groups; 

• delegated decisions by the Mayor; 

• whistleblowing protections for both staff and councillors; and 

• powers of Full Council, where applicable, to question and review. 
 

Page 41

ristk
Cross-Out



 

12 

14. Authorities with a directly-elected mayor should note that mayors are required by 
law to attend overview and scrutiny committee sessions when asked to do so (see 
paragraph 44). 

  

Page 42



 

13 

3. Resourcing 

15. The resource an authority allocates to the scrutiny function plays a pivotal role in 
determining how successful that function is and therefore the value it can add to the 
work of the authority. 

 
16. Ultimately it is up to each authority to decide on the resource it provides, but every 

authority should recognise that creating and sustaining an effective scrutiny function 
requires them to allocate resources to it. 

 
17. Authorities should also recognise that support for scrutiny committees, task groups 

and other activities is not solely about budgets and provision of officer time, 
although these are clearly extremely important elements. Effective support is also 
about the ways in which the wider authority engages with those who carry out the 
scrutiny function (both members and officers). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
Statutory scrutiny officers 

18. Combined authorities, upper and single tier authorities are required to designate a 
statutory scrutiny officer,3 someone whose role is to: 

• promote the role of the authority’s scrutiny committee; 

• provide support to the scrutiny committee and its members; and 

• provide support and guidance to members and officers relating to the functions 
of the scrutiny committee. 

 

                                            
 
3 Section 9FB of the Local Government Act 2000; article 9 of the Combined Authorities 
(Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 
2017 

When deciding on the level of resource to allocate to the scrutiny 
function, the factors an authority should consider include: 

• Scrutiny’s legal powers and responsibilities; 

• The particular role and remit scrutiny will play in the authority; 

• The training requirements of scrutiny members and support 
officers, particularly the support needed to ask effective 
questions of the executive and other key partners, and make 
effective recommendations; 

• The need for ad hoc external support where expertise does not 
exist in the council; 

• Effectively-resourced scrutiny has been shown to add value to 
the work of authorities, improving their ability to meet the needs 
of local people; and 

• Effectively-resourced scrutiny can help policy formulation and so 
minimise the need for call-in of executive decisions. 

 

Page 43



 

14 

19. Authorities not required by law to appoint such an officer should consider whether 
doing so would be appropriate for their specific local needs. 

 
Officer resource models 

20. Authorities are free to decide for themselves which wider officer support model best 
suits their individual circumstances, though generally they adopt one or a mix of the 
following: 

• Committee – officers are drawn from specific policy or service areas; 

• Integrated – officers are drawn from the corporate centre and also service the 
executive; and 

• Specialist – officers are dedicated to scrutiny. 
 

21. Each model has its merits – the committee model provides service-specific 
expertise; the integrated model facilitates closer and earlier scrutiny involvement in 
policy formation and alignment of corporate work programmes; and the specialist 
model is structurally independent from those areas it scrutinises. 

 
22. Authorities should ensure that, whatever model they employ, officers tasked with 

providing scrutiny support are able to provide impartial advice. This might require 
consideration of the need to build safeguards into the way that support is provided. 
The nature of these safeguards will differ according to the specific role scrutiny 
plays in the organisation. 

  

Page 44



 

15 

4. Selecting Committee Members 

23. Selecting the right members to serve on scrutiny committees is essential if those 
committees are to function effectively. Where a committee is made up of members 
who have the necessary skills and commitment, it is far more likely to be taken 
seriously by the wider authority. 

 
24. While there are proportionality requirements that must be met,4 the selection of the 

chair and other committee members is for each authority to decide for itself. 
Guidance for combined authorities on this issue has been produced by the Centre 
for Public Scrutiny5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

25. Authorities are reminded that members of the executive cannot be members of a 
scrutiny committee.6 Authorities should take care to ensure that, as a minimum, 
members holding less formal executive positions, e.g. as Cabinet assistants, do not 
sit on scrutinising committees looking at portfolios to which those roles relate. 
Authorities should articulate in their constitutions how conflicts of interest, including 
familial links (see also paragraph 31), between executive and scrutiny 
responsibilities should be managed, including where members stand down from the 
executive and move to a scrutiny role, and vice-versa. 

 
26. Members or substitute members of a combined authority must not be members of 

its overview and scrutiny committee.7 This includes the Mayor in Mayoral Combined 
Authorities. It is advised that Deputy Mayors for Policing and Crime are also not 
members of the combined authority’s overview and scrutiny committee. 

 
Selecting individual committee members 

27. When selecting individual members to serve on scrutiny committees, an authority 
should consider a member’s experience, expertise, interests, ability to act 
impartially, ability to work as part of a group, and capacity to serve. 

 

                                            
 
4 See, for example, regulation 11 of the Local Authorities (Committee System) (England) 
Regulations 2012 (S.I. 2012/1020) and article 4 of the Combined Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017 (S.I. 
2017/68). 
5 See pages 15-18 of ‘Overview and scrutiny in combined authorities: a plain English 
guide’: https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Overview-and-scrutiny-in-combined-

authorities-a-plain-english-guide.pdf 
6 Section 9FA(3) of the Local Government Act 2000. 
7 2(3) of Schedule 5A to the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction 
Act 2009 

Members invariably have different skill-sets. What an authority must 
consider when forming a committee is that, as a group, it possesses the 
requisite expertise, commitment and ability to act impartially to fulfil its 
functions. 

Page 45

https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Overview-and-scrutiny-in-combined-authorities-a-plain-english-guide.pdf
https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Overview-and-scrutiny-in-combined-authorities-a-plain-english-guide.pdf


 

16 

28. Authorities should not take into account a member’s perceived level of support for 
or opposition to a particular political party (notwithstanding the wider legal 
requirement for proportionality referred to in paragraph 24). 

 
Selecting a chair 

29. The Chair plays a leadership role on a scrutiny committee as they are largely 
responsible for establishing its profile, influence and ways of working. 

 
30. The attributes authorities should and should not take into account when selecting 

individual committee members (see paragraphs 27 and 28) also apply to the 
selection of the Chair, but the Chair should also possess the ability to lead and build 
a sense of teamwork and consensus among committee members. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

31. Given their pre-eminent role on the scrutiny committee, it is strongly recommended 
that the Chair not preside over scrutiny of their relatives8. Combined authorities 
should note the legal requirements that apply to them where the Chair is an 
independent person9. 

 
32. The method for selecting a Chair is for each authority to decide for itself, however 

every authority should consider taking a vote by secret ballot. Combined Authorities 
should be aware of the legal requirements regarding the party affiliation of their 
scrutiny committee Chair10. 

 
Training for committee members 

33. Authorities should ensure committee members are offered induction when they take 
up their role and ongoing training so they can carry out their responsibilities 
effectively. Authorities should pay attention to the need to ensure committee 
members are aware of their legal powers, and how to prepare for and ask relevant 
questions at scrutiny sessions. 

 
34. When deciding on training requirements for committee members, authorities should 

consider taking advantage of opportunities offered by external providers in the 
sector. 

 
Co-option and technical advice 

35. While members and their support officers will often have significant local insight and 
an understanding of local people and their needs, the provision of outside expertise 
can be invaluable. 

                                            
 
8 A definition of ‘relative’ can be found at section 28(10) of the Localism Act 2011. 
9 See article 5(2) of the Combined Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access 
to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017 (S.I. 2017/68). 
10 Article 5(6) of the Combined Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access to 
Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017. 

Chairs should pay special attention to the need to guard the 
committee’s independence. Importantly, however, they should take care 
to avoid the committee being, and being viewed as, a de facto 
opposition to the executive. 

Page 46



 

17 

 
36. There are two principal ways to procure this: 

• Co-option – formal co-option is provided for in legislation11. Authorities must 
establish a co-option scheme to determine how individuals will be co-opted onto 
committees; and 

• Technical advisers – depending on the subject matter, independent local 
experts might exist who can provide advice and assistance in evaluating 
evidence (see annex 2). 

  

                                            
 
11 Section 9FA(4) Local Government Act 2000 

Page 47



 

18 

5. Power to Access Information 

37. A scrutiny committee needs access to relevant information the authority holds, and 
to receive it in good time, if it is to do its job effectively. 

 
38. This need is recognised in law, with members of scrutiny committees enjoying 

powers to access information12. In particular, regulations give enhanced powers to a 
scrutiny member to access exempt or confidential information. This is in addition to 
existing rights for councillors to have access to information to perform their duties, 
including common law rights to request information and rights to request information 
under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004. 

 
39. When considering what information scrutiny needs in order to carry out its work, 

scrutiny members and the executive should consider scrutiny’s role and the legal 
rights that committees and their individual members have, as well as their need to 
receive timely and accurate information to carry out their duties effectively. 

 
40. Scrutiny members should have access to a regularly available source of key 

information about the management of the authority – particularly on performance, 
management and risk. Where this information exists, and scrutiny members are 
given support to understand it, the potential for what officers might consider 
unfocused and unproductive requests is reduced as members will be able to frame 
their requests from a more informed position. 

 
41. Officers should speak to scrutiny members to ensure they understand the reasons 

why information is needed, thereby making the authority better able to provide 
information that is relevant and timely, as well as ensuring that the authority 
complies with legal requirements. 

 
 
 
 
 

42. The law recognises that there might be instances where it is legitimate for an 
authority to withhold information and places a requirement on the executive to 
provide the scrutiny committee with a written statement setting out its reasons for 
that decision13. However, members of the executive and senior officers should take 
particular care to avoid refusing requests, or limiting the information they provide, 
for reasons of party political or reputational expediency. 

                                            
 
12 Regulation 17 - Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012; article 10 Combined Authorities (Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017. 
13 Regulation 17(4) – Local Government (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access 
to Information) (England) Regulations 2012; article 10(4) Combined Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017. 

While each request for information should be judged on its individual 
merits, authorities should adopt a default position of sharing the 
information they hold, on request, with scrutiny committee members. 
 

 

Page 48



 

19 

 
 
 
 
 
 

43. Regulations already stipulate a timeframe for executives to comply with requests 
from a scrutiny member14. When agreeing to such requests, authorities should: 

• consider whether seeking clarification from the information requester could 
help better target the request; and 

• Ensure the information is supplied in a format appropriate to the recipient’s 
needs. 

 

44. Committees should be aware of their legal power to require members of the 
executive and officers to attend before them to answer questions15. It is the duty of 
members and officers to comply with such requests.16 

 
Seeking information from external organisations 

45. Scrutiny members should also consider the need to supplement any authority-held 
information they receive with information and intelligence that might be available 
from other sources, and should note in particular their statutory powers to access 
information from certain external organisations. 

 
46. When asking an external organisation to provide documentation or appear before it, 

and where that organisation is not legally obliged to do either (see annex 3), 
scrutiny committees should consider the following: 

 
a) The need to explain the purpose of scrutiny – the organisation being 

approached might have little or no awareness of the committee’s work, or of an 
authority’s scrutiny function more generally, and so might be reluctant to comply 
with any request; 
 

b) The benefits of an informal approach – individuals from external 
organisations can have fixed perceptions of what an evidence session entails 
and may be unwilling to subject themselves to detailed public scrutiny if they 
believe it could reflect badly on them or their employer. Making an informal 
approach can help reassure an organisation of the aims of the committee, the 
type of information being sought and the manner in which the evidence session 
would be conducted; 
 

                                            
 
14 Regulation 17(2) – Local Government (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access 
to Information) (England) Regulations 2012; article 10(2) Combined Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017. 
15 Section 9FA(8) of the Local Government Act 2000; paragraph 2(6) of Schedule 5A to the 
Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 
16 Section 9FA(9) of the Local Government Act 2000; paragraph 2(7) of Schedule 5A to the 
Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 

Before an authority takes a decision not to share information it holds, it 
should give serious consideration to whether that information could be 
shared in closed session. 

Page 49



 

20 

c) How to encourage compliance with the request – scrutiny committees will 
want to frame their approach on a case by case basis. For contentious issues, 
committees might want to emphasise the opportunity their request gives the 
organisation to ‘set the record straight’ in a public setting; and 
 

d) Who to approach – a committee might instinctively want to ask the Chief 
Executive or Managing Director of an organisation to appear at an evidence 
session, however it could be more beneficial to engage front-line staff when 
seeking operational-level detail rather than senior executives who might only be 
able to talk in more general terms. When making a request to a specific 
individual, the committee should consider the type of information it is seeking, 
the nature of the organisation in question and the authority’s pre-existing 
relationship with it. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Following ‘the Council Pound’ 
Scrutiny committees will often have a keen interest in ‘following the 
council pound’, i.e. scrutinising organisations that receive public funding 
to deliver goods and services. 
 
Authorities should recognise the legitimacy of this interest and, where 
relevant, consider the need to provide assistance to scrutiny members 
and their support staff to obtain information from organisations the 
council has contracted to deliver services. In particular, when agreeing 
contracts with these bodies, authorities should consider whether it 
would be appropriate to include a requirement for them to supply 
information to or appear before scrutiny committees. 
 

Page 50



 

21 

6. Planning Work 

47. Effective scrutiny should have a defined impact on the ground, with the committee 
making recommendations that will make a tangible difference to the work of the 
authority. To have this kind of impact, scrutiny committees need to plan their work 
programme, i.e. draw up a long-term agenda and consider making it flexible enough 
to accommodate any urgent, short-term issues that might arise during the year. 

 
48. Authorities with multiple scrutiny committees sometimes have a separate work 

programme for each committee. Where this happens, consideration should be given 
to how to co-ordinate the various committees’ work to make best use of the total 
resources available. 

 
Being clear about scrutiny’s role 

49. Scrutiny works best when it has a clear role and function. This provides focus and 
direction. While scrutiny has the power to look at anything which affects ‘the area, 
or the area’s inhabitants’, authorities will often find it difficult to support a scrutiny 
function that carries out generalised oversight across the wide range of issues 
experienced by local people, particularly in the context of partnership working. 
Prioritisation is necessary, which means that there might be things that, despite 
being important, scrutiny will not be able to look at. 

 
50. Different overall roles could include having a focus on risk, the authority’s finances, 

or on the way the authority works with its partners. 
 

51. Applying this focus does not mean that certain subjects are ‘off limits’. It is more 
about looking at topics and deciding whether their relative importance justifies the 
positive impact scrutiny’s further involvement could bring. 

 
52. When thinking about scrutiny’s focus, members should be supported by key senior 

officers. The statutory scrutiny officer, if an authority has one, will need to take a 
leading role in supporting members to clarify the role and function of scrutiny, and 
championing that role once agreed. 

 
Who to speak to 

53. Evidence will need to be gathered to inform the work programming process. This 
will ensure that it looks at the right topics, in the right way and at the right time. 
Gathering evidence requires conversations with: 

• The public – it is likely that formal ‘consultation’ with the public on the scrutiny 
work programme will be ineffective. Asking individual scrutiny members to have 
conversations with individuals and groups in their own local areas can work 
better. Insights gained from the public through individual pieces of scrutiny work 
can be fed back into the work programming process. Listening to and 
participating in conversations in places where local people come together, 
including in online forums, can help authorities engage people on their own 
terms and yield more positive results. 
 

Page 51



 

22 

Authorities should consider how their communications officers can help scrutiny 
engage with the public, and how wider internal expertise and local knowledge 
from both members and officers might make a contribution. 

 

• The authority’s partners – relationships with other partners should not be limited 
to evidence-gathering to support individual reviews or agenda items. A range of 
partners are likely to have insights that will prove useful: 
o Public sector partners (like the NHS and community safety partners, over 

which scrutiny has specific legal powers); 
o Voluntary sector partners; 
o Contractors and commissioning partners (including partners in joint 

ventures and authority-owned companies); 
o In parished areas, town, community and parish councils; 
o Neighbouring principal councils (both in two-tier and unitary areas); 
o Cross-authority bodies and organisations, such as Local Enterprise 

Partnerships17; and 
o Others with a stake and interest in the local area – large local employers, 

for example. 
 

• The executive – a principal partner in discussions on the work programme 
should be the executive (and senior officers). The executive should not direct 
scrutiny’s work (see chapter 2), but conversations will help scrutiny members 
better understand how their work can be designed to align with the best 
opportunities to influence the authority’s wider work. 

 
Information sources 

54. Scrutiny will need access to relevant information to inform its work programme. The 
type of information will depend on the specific role and function scrutiny plays within 
the authority, but might include: 

• Performance information from across the authority and its partners; 

• Finance and risk information from across the authority and its partners; 

• Corporate complaints information, and aggregated information from political 
groups about the subject matter of members’ surgeries; 

• Business cases and options appraisals (and other planning information) for 
forthcoming major decisions. This information will be of particular use for pre-
decision scrutiny; and 

• Reports and recommendations issued by relevant ombudsmen, especially 
the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman. 

                                            
 
17 Authorities should ensure they have appropriate arrangements in place to ensure the 
effective democratic scrutiny of Local Enterprise Partnerships’ investment decisions. 

Page 52



 

23 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

55. Scrutiny members should consider keeping this information under regular review. It 
is likely to be easier to do this outside committee, rather than bringing such 
information to committee ’to note’, or to provide an update, as a matter of course. 

 
Shortlisting topics 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

56. Some authorities use scoring systems to evaluate and rank work programme 
proposals. If these are used to provoke discussion and debate, based on evidence, 
about what priorities should be, they can be a useful tool. Others take a looser 
approach. Whichever method is adopted, a committee should be able to justify how 
and why a decision has been taken to include certain issues and not others. 

 
57. Scrutiny members should accept that shortlisting can be difficult; scrutiny 

committees have finite resources and deciding how these are best allocated is 
tough. They should understand that, if work programming is robust and effective, 
there might well be issues that they want to look at that nonetheless are not 
selected. 

 
Carrying out work 

58. Selected topics can be scrutinised in several ways, including: 

 
a) As a single item on a committee agenda – this often presents a limited 

opportunity for effective scrutiny, but may be appropriate for some issues or 
where the committee wants to maintain a formal watching brief over a given 
issue; 
 

b) At a single meeting – which could be a committee meeting or something less 
formal. This can provide an opportunity to have a single public meeting about a 

As committees can meet in closed session, commercial confidentiality 
should not preclude the sharing of information. Authorities should note, 
however, that the default for meetings should be that they are held in 
public (see 2014 guidance on ‘Open and accountable local 
government’: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/upl
oads/attachment_data/file/343182/140812_Openness_Guide.pdf). 

Approaches to shortlisting topics should reflect scrutiny’s overall role in 
the authority. This will require the development of bespoke, local 
solutions, however when considering whether an item should be 
included in the work programme, the kind of questions a scrutiny 
committee should consider might include: 

• Do we understand the benefits scrutiny would bring to 
this issue? 

• How could we best carry out work on this subject? 

• What would be the best outcome of this work? 

• How would this work engage with the activity of the 
executive and other decision-makers, including partners? 

 

Page 53

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/343182/140812_Openness_Guide.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/343182/140812_Openness_Guide.pdf


 

24 

given subject, or to have a meeting at which evidence is taken from a number of 
witnesses; 
 

c) At a task and finish review of two or three meetings – short, sharp scrutiny 
reviews are likely to be most effective even for complex topics. Properly 
focused, they ensure members can swiftly reach conclusions and make 
recommendations, perhaps over the course of a couple of months or less; 
 

d) Via a longer-term task and finish review – the ‘traditional’ task and finish 
model – with perhaps six or seven meetings spread over a number of months – 
is still appropriate when scrutiny needs to dig into a complex topic in significant 
detail. However, the resource implications of such work, and its length, can 
make it unattractive for all but the most complex matters; and 
 

e) By establishing a ‘standing panel’ – this falls short of establishing a whole 
new committee but may reflect a necessity to keep a watching brief over a 
critical local issue, especially where members feel they need to convene 
regularly to carry out that oversight. Again, the resource implications of this 
approach means that it will be rarely used. 

  

Page 54



 

25 

7. Evidence Sessions 

59. Evidence sessions are a key way in which scrutiny committees inform their work. 
They might happen at formal committee, in less formal ‘task and finish’ groups or at 
standalone sessions. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
How to plan 

60. Effective planning does not necessarily involve a large number of pre-meetings, the 
development of complex scopes or the drafting of questioning plans. It is more often 
about setting overall objectives and then considering what type of questions (and 
the way in which they are asked) can best elicit the information the committee is 
seeking. This applies as much to individual agenda items as it does for longer 
evidence sessions – there should always be consideration in advance of what 
scrutiny is trying to get out of a particular evidence session. 

 
 
 
 
 

61. As far as possible there should be consensus among scrutiny members about the 
objective of an evidence session before it starts. It is important to recognise that 
members have different perspectives on certain issues, and so might not share the 
objectives for a session that are ultimately adopted. Where this happens, the Chair 
will need to be aware of this divergence of views and bear it in mind when planning 
the evidence session. 

 
62. Effective planning should mean that at the end of a session it is relatively 

straightforward for the chair to draw together themes and highlight the key findings. 
It is unlikely that the committee will be able to develop and agree recommendations 
immediately, but, unless the session is part of a wider inquiry, enough evidence 
should have been gathered to allow the chair to set a clear direction. 

 
63. After an evidence session, the committee might wish to hold a short ‘wash-up’ 

meeting to review whether their objectives were met and lessons could be learned 
for future sessions. 

 
Developing recommendations 

64. The development and agreement of recommendations is often an iterative process. 
It will usually be appropriate for this to be done only by members, assisted by co-
optees where relevant. When deciding on recommendations, however, members 
should have due regard to advice received from officers, particularly the Monitoring 
Officer. 

Good preparation is a vital part of conducting effective evidence 
sessions. Members should have a clear idea of what the committee 
hopes to get out of each session and appreciate that success will 
depend on their ability to work together on the day. 

Chairs play a vital role in leading discussions on objective-setting and 
ensuring all members are aware of the specific role each will play during 
the evidence session. 
 

Page 55



 

26 

 
65. The drafting of reports is usually, but not always, carried out by officers, directed by 

members. 
 

66. Authorities draft reports and recommendations in a number of ways, but there are 
normally three stages: 

 
i. the development of a ‘heads of report’ – a document setting out general 

findings that members can then discuss as they consider the overall structure 
and focus of the report and its recommendations; 
 

ii. the development of those findings, which will set out some areas on which 
recommendations might be made; and  
 

iii. the drafting of the full report. 
 

67. Recommendations should be evidence-based and SMART, i.e. specific, 
measurable, achievable, relevant and timed. Where appropriate, committees may 
wish to consider sharing them in draft with interested parties. 

 
68. Committees should bear in mind that often six to eight recommendations are 

sufficient to enable the authority to focus its response, although there may be 
specific circumstances in which more might be appropriate. 

 
 
 
  

Sharing draft recommendations with executive members should not 
provide an opportunity for them to revise or block recommendations 
before they are made. It should, however, provide an opportunity for 
errors to be identified and corrected, and for a more general sense-
check. 

Page 56



 

27 

Annex 1: Illustrative Scenario – Creating an 
Executive-Scrutiny Protocol 

An executive-scrutiny protocol can deal with the practical expectations of scrutiny 
committee members and the executive, as well as the cultural dynamics. 
 
Workshops with scrutiny members, senior officers and Cabinet can be helpful to inform the 
drafting of a protocol. An external facilitator can help bring an independent perspective.  
 
Councils should consider how to adopt a protocol, e.g. formal agreement at scrutiny 
committee and Cabinet, then formal integration into the Council’s constitution at the next 
Annual General Meeting. 
 
The protocol, as agreed, may contain sections on: 
 

• The way scrutiny will go about developing its work programme (including the ways 
in which senior officers and Cabinet members will be kept informed); 

• The way in which senior officers and Cabinet will keep scrutiny informed of the 
outlines of major decisions as they are developed, to allow for discussion of 
scrutiny’s potential involvement in policy development. This involves the building in 
of safeguards to mitigate risks around the sharing of sensitive information with 
scrutiny members; 

• A strengthening and expansion of existing parts of the code of conduct that relate to 
behaviour in formal meetings, and in informal meetings; 

• Specification of the nature and form of responses that scrutiny can expect when it 
makes recommendations to the executive, when it makes requests to the executive 
for information, and when it makes requests that Cabinet members or senior 
officers attend meetings; and 

• Confirmation of the role of the statutory scrutiny officer, and Monitoring Officer, in 
overseeing compliance with the protocol, and ensuring that it is used to support the 
wider aim of supporting and promoting a culture of scrutiny, with matters relating to 
the protocol’s success being reported to full Council through the scrutiny Annual 
Report. 

  

Page 57



 

28 

Annex 2: Illustrative Scenario – Engaging 
Independent Technical Advisers 

This example demonstrates how one Council’s executive and scrutiny committee worked 
together to scope a role and then appoint an independent adviser on transforming social 
care commissioning. Their considerations and process may be helpful and applicable in 
other similar scenarios.   
 
Major care contracts were coming to an end and the Council took the opportunity to review 
whether to continue with its existing strategic commissioning framework, or take a different 
approach – potentially insourcing certain elements. 
 
The relevant Director was concerned about the Council’s reliance on a very small number 
of large providers. The Director therefore approached the Scrutiny and Governance 
Manager to talk through the potential role scrutiny could play as the Council considered 
these changes. 
 
The Scrutiny Chair wanted to look at this issue in some depth, but recognised its 
complexity could make it difficult for her committee to engage – she was concerned it 
would not be able to do the issue justice. The Director offered support from his own officer 
team, but the Chair considered this approach to be beset by risks around the 
independence of the process. 
 
She talked to the Director about securing independent advice. He was worried that an 
independent adviser could come with preconceived ideas and would not understand the 
Council’s context and objectives. The Scrutiny Chair was concerned that independent 
advice could end up leading to scrutiny members being passive, relying on an adviser to 
do their thinking for them. They agreed that some form of independent assistance would 
be valuable, but that how it was provided and managed should be carefully thought out. 
 
With the assistance of the Governance and Scrutiny Manager, the Scrutiny Chair 
approached local universities and Further Education institutions to identify an appropriate 
individual. The approach was clear – it set out the precise role expected of the adviser, 
and explained the scrutiny process itself. Because members wanted to focus on the risks 
of market failure, and felt more confident on substantive social care matters, the approach 
was directed at those with a specialism in economics and business administration. The 
Council’s search was proactive – the assistance of the service department was drawn on 
to make direct approaches to particular individuals who could carry out this role. 
 
It was agreed to make a small budget available to act as a ‘per diem’ to support an 
adviser; academics were approached in the first instance as the Council felt able to make 
a case that an educational institution would provide this support for free as part of its 
commitment to Corporate Social Responsibility. 
 
Three individuals were identified from the Council’s proactive search. The Chair and Vice-
Chair of the committee had an informal discussion with each – not so much to establish 
their skills and expertise (which had already been assessed) but to give a sense about 

Page 58



 

29 

their ‘fit’ with scrutiny’s objectives and their political nous in understanding the environment 
in which they would operate, and to satisfy themselves that they will apply themselves 
even-handedly to the task. The Director sat in on this process but played no part in who 
was ultimately selected. 
 
The independent advice provided by the selected individual gave the Scrutiny Committee 
a more comprehensive understanding of the issue and meant it was able to offer informed 
advice on the merits of putting in place a new strategic commissioning framework. 
  

Page 59



 

30 

Annex 3: Illustrative Scenario – Approaching 
an External Organisation to Appear before a 
Committee 

This example shows how one council ensured a productive scrutiny meeting, involving a 
private company and the public. Lessons may be drawn and apply to other similar 
scenarios.  
 
Concerns had been expressed by user groups, and the public at large, about the reliability 
of the local bus service. The Scrutiny Chair wanted to question the bus company in a 
public evidence session but knew that she had no power to compel it to attend. Previous 
attempts to engage it had been unsuccessful; the company was not hostile, but said it had 
its own ways of engaging the public. 
 
The Monitoring Officer approached the company’s regional PR manager, but he expressed 
concern that the session would end in a ‘bunfight’. He also explained the company had put 
their improvement plan in the public domain, and felt a big council meeting would 
exacerbate tensions. 
 
Other councillors had strong views about the company – one thought the committee 
should tell the company it would be empty-chaired if it refused to attend. The Scrutiny 
Chair was sympathetic to this, but thought such an approach would not lead to any 
improvements. 
 
The Scrutiny Chair was keen to make progress, but it was difficult to find the right person 
to speak to at the company, so she asked council officers and local transport advocacy 
groups for advice. Speaking to those people also gave her a better sense of what 
scrutiny’s role might be. 
 
When she finally spoke to the company’s network manager, she explained the situation 
and suggested they work together to consider how the meeting could be productive for the 
Council, the company and local people. In particular, this provided her with an opportunity 
to explain scrutiny and its role. The network manager remained sceptical but was 
reassured that they could work together to ensure that the meeting would not be an 
‘ambush’. He agreed in principle to attend and also provide information to support the 
Committee’s work beforehand. 
 
Discussions continued in the four weeks leading up to the Committee meeting. The 
Scrutiny Chair was conscious that while she had to work with the company to ensure that 
the meeting was constructive – and secure their attendance – it could not be a whitewash, 
and other members and the public would demand a hard edge to the discussions. 
 
The scrutiny committee agreed that the meeting would provide a space for the company to 
provide context to the problems local people are experiencing, but that this would be 
preceded by a space on the agenda for the Chair, Vice-chair, and representatives from 
two local transport advocacy groups to set out their concerns. The company were sent in 

Page 60



 

31 

advance a summary of the general areas on which members were likely to ask questions, 
to ensure that those questions could be addressed at the meeting. 
 
Finally, provision was made for public questions and debate. Those attending the meeting 
were invited to discuss with each other the principal issues they wanted the meeting to 
cover. A short, facilitated discussion in the room led by the Chair highlighted the key 
issues, and the Chair then put those points to the company representatives.  
 
At the end of the meeting, the public asked questions of the bus company representative 
in a 20-minute plenary item. 
 
The meeting was fractious, but the planning carried out to prepare for this – by channelling 
issues through discussion and using the Chair to mediate the questioning – made things 
easier. Some attendees were initially frustrated by this structure, but the company 
representative was more open and less defensive than might otherwise have been the 
case.  
 
The meeting also motivated the company to revise its communications plan to become 
more responsive to this kind of challenge, part of which involved a commitment to feed 
back to the scrutiny committee on the recommendations it made on the night. 
 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



 
EXTRACT AND SUMMARY – STATUTORY GUIDANCE ON OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY IN LOCAL AND COMBINED AUTHORITIES  
 

Item 
No. 

Ref Guidance – Summary/Extract Current Arrangements Recommendations 

  Culture  
 

  

1. Para 11 
Page 8 

How to establish a strong organisational 
culture by 
 
a) Recognising scrutiny’s legal and  
    democratic legitimacy. 
 
All Members and officers should recognise 
and appreciate the importance and 
legitimacy of the scrutiny function is 
afforded by the law.  

The overview and scrutiny function embeds the 
Centre for Public Scrutiny’s established principles 
of good scrutiny within the constitution and is an 
integral part of the Council’s decision making 
arrangements. 
 
All scrutiny members receive training on their role 
and responsibilities as part of the overview and 
scrutiny function. 
 
The role of scrutiny is also well understood 
amongst senior officers.  
 

It is proposed that no 
changes are required. 

2. Para 11 
Page 8 

b) Identifying a clear role and focus 
 
Authorities should take steps to ensure 
scrutiny has a clear role and focus within 
the organisation i.e. a niche within which it 
can clearly demonstrate it adds value. 
 
 
 
 
 
Authorities should ensure a clear division of 
responsibilities between the scrutiny 
function and the audit function. 

 
 
A challenge for local authorities is to ensure the 
overview and scrutiny arrangements provide an 
opportunity for engagement by non-executive 
members in activity which generate revelatory 
findings and recommendations that make a 
difference.  This can be accomplished by setting 
up Task and Finish Groups to look at specific 
issues and report back to Cabinet with 
recommendations as appropriate.  
 
There is a clear division of responsibilities between 
the scrutiny function and the audit function as set 
out in the terms of reference for the committees 
contained in the Constitution.  

It is proposed that no 
changes are required. 

  

APPENDIX 2 

P
age 63



Item 
No. 

Ref Guidance – Summary/Extract Current Arrangements Recommendations 

  Culture  
 

  

3. Para 11 
Page 9 

The findings of independent whistleblowing 
investigations might be of interest to 
scrutiny committees as they consider their 
wider implications.  
 

These have not previously been considered by 
overview and scrutiny. 
 
There is a Whistleblowing Policy in place and any 
wider implications of an investigation would be 
addressed by the appropriate forum.  
 

It is proposed that no 
changes are required. 

4. Para 11 
Page 9 

c) Ensuring early and regular engagement 
between the executive and scrutiny 
 
The executive should not try to exercise 
control over the work of the scrutiny 
committee. 
 
The chair of the scrutiny committee should 
determine the nature and extent of an 
executive member’s participation in a 
scrutiny committee meeting.  

 
 
 
The overview and scrutiny committees set their 
own work programme and consider this at each 
meeting.  
 
Currently portfolio holders attend overview and 
scrutiny committee meetings to support officers 
presenting reports within their remit and when 
invited by the committee to do so. The Chairman 
of the Committee controls who is allowed to speak 
and when, including portfolio holders.  
 

It is proposed that no 
changes are required. 

  

P
age 64



Item 
No. 

Ref Guidance – Summary/Extract Current Arrangements Recommendations 

  Culture  
 

  

5. Para 11 
Page 9 

d) Managing disagreement 
 
It is the job of both the executive and 
scrutiny to work together to reduce the risk 
of disagreement and authorities should 
take steps to predict, identify and act on 
disagreement. 
 
One way in which this can be done is via 
an ‘executive-scrutiny protocol’ which can 
help define the relationship between the 
two and mitigate any differences of opinion 
before they manifest themselves in 
unhelpful and unproductive ways.  
 

 
 
Managing disagreement effectively relies on the 
healthy overview and scrutiny/executive 
relationship more generally, based on the agreed 
principles of good scrutiny. 
 
Members are always advised that scrutiny should 
be apolitical, to keep an open mind, examine the 
relevant evidence and take into account officer 
advice and the views of stakeholders when making 
recommendations.  
 
There is not currently an Executive /Scrutiny 
protocol in place.  There is a well-established 
culture in which overview and scrutiny is an 
integral part of decision making. 

 
 
Consideration could be 
given to producing an 
Executive/Scrutiny Protocol 
to clearly define the roles of 
the executive and scrutiny 
and reduce the risk of 
conflict between the two. 
 

6. Para 11 
Page 10 

e) Providing the necessary support 
 
While the level of resources allocated to 
scrutiny is for each authority to decide for 
itself, when determining resources an 
authority should consider the purpose of 
scrutiny as set out in legislation and the 
specific role and remit of the authority’s 
own scrutiny committee(s) and the scrutiny 
function as a whole.  
 
Support should also be given by members 
and senior officers to scrutiny committees 
and their support staff to access 
information held by the authority and 
facilitate discussions with representatives 
of external bodies.  
 

 
 
In common with all local authorities there has been 
an unprecedented reduction in resources and 
capacity over recent years.  However, political 
leaders and senior officers continue to recognise 
the value of the scrutiny function.  The scrutiny 
function has been recognised at a national level 
winning the CfPS Good Scrutiny Award – 
Scrutineers Choice in 2013. 
 
The lead officers for the scrutiny committees are 
Heads of Service and each committee has a 
dedicated democratic services officer to provide 
administrative support. 

 
 
It is proposed that no 
changes to the current 
arrangements are required. 

P
age 65



Item 
No. 

Ref Guidance – Summary/Extract Current Arrangements Recommendations 

  Culture  
 

  

7. Para 11 
Page 10 

f) Ensuring impartial advice from officers 
 
Authorities, particularly senior officers, 
should ensure all officers are free to 
provide impartial advice to scrutiny 
committees.  This is fundamental to 
effective scrutiny.  Of particular importance 
is the role played by ‘statutory officers’ – 
Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer 
and Section 151 Officer.  These individuals 
have a particular role in ensuring that 
timely, relevant and high quality advice is 
provided to scrutiny. 
 

 
 
The Corporate Management Team advise the 
Leader and Cabinet and also support the overview 
and scrutiny committees in their deliberations, 
providing information and answering questions as 
required.   
 
There may be a range of options and a difference 
of political opinion about the way forward on a 
particular matter, but overview and scrutiny 
members are able to request factual information 
and advice from officers and are often supported in 
key lines of enquiry which may culminate in a 
range of alternative points of view being presented 
to the Cabinet.   
 
All member level reports, including those to 
overview and scrutiny are produced in accordance 
with a corporate template which requires the 
inclusion of available options, policy, risk, equality, 
legal and financial implications.  
 

 
 
It is proposed that no 
changes to the current 
arrangements are required. 

  

P
age 66



Item 
No. 

Ref Guidance – Summary/Extract Current Arrangements Recommendations 

  Culture  
 

  

8. Para 11 
Page 10 

g) Communicating scrutiny’s role and 
purpose to the wider authority 
 
Authorities should take steps to ensure all 
members and officers are made aware of 
the role the scrutiny committees play in the 
organisation, its value and the outcomes it 
can deliver, the powers it has, its 
membership and, if appropriate, the identity 
of those providing officer support.  
 

 
 
 
An overview and scrutiny annual report is 
submitted to council each year setting out the work 
undertaken in the past year giving detail of work to 
be carried out in the coming year.  The report 
contains information on the impact of the scrutiny 
reviews and recommendations made.  
 
The annual report is published on the Council’ 
website and contains details of the officers 
providing the support function. 
 
Overview and scrutiny is featured on the Council’s 
website with links to individual committees and 
membership.  A scrutiny handbook is also 
produced. 
 
The induction programme for new members 
includes a comprehensive introduction to overview 
and scrutiny.  
 

 
 
 
It is proposed that no 
changes to the current 
arrangements are required. 

  

P
age 67



Item 
No. 

Ref Guidance – Summary/Extract Current Arrangements Recommendations 

  Culture  
 

  

9. Para 11 
Page 
10/11 

h) Maintaining the interest of Full Council in 
the work of the scrutiny committee 
 
Authorities should take steps to ensure full 
Council is informed of the work the scrutiny 
committees are doing. 
 
This can be done by reports and 
recommendations being submitted to full 
council rather than just Cabinet. 
 
 

 
 
 
Recommendations from overview and scrutiny are 
a standing item on the Cabinet agenda and the 
relevant Chairmen are invited to attend Cabinet to 
present the committees views as part of the 
Cabinet decision making process.  
 
The overview and scrutiny function reports 
annually to full council on its work during the year. 
 
A more regular report could be submitted to council 
setting out the wide range of work that is 
undertaken by overview and scrutiny members, 
possibly on a quarterly basis; alternatively only 
when Full Council originally requested the review 
in question.   
 
Care would need to be taken to ensure the 
separate legal roles of executive and full council 
were understood and observed. 
 
Any changes in reporting processes to council will 
be subject to the council’s procedures as set out in 
the Constitution. 
 

 
 
 
To consider if changes are 
required to the council’s 
reporting procedures to 
facilitate more regular 
reports being submitted to 
full council on the overview 
and scrutiny committees 
work programmes. 

  

P
age 68



Item 
No. 

Ref Guidance – Summary/Extract Current Arrangements Recommendations 

  Culture  
 

  

10. 
 

Para 11 
Page 11 

i) Communicating scrutiny’s role to the 
public 
 
Consideration should be given to how and 
when to engage the authority’s 
communication officers, and any other 
relevant channels to understand how to get 
that message across.  

 
 
 
The Council’s website explains overview and 
scrutiny purpose and processes as well as hosting 
work programmes, reports and minutes. 
 
The annual overview and scrutiny report is a public 
document highlighting key pieces of overview and 
scrutiny work through the year. 
 
Public participation in meetings tends to be when 
an issue of local concern is on the agenda. 

 
 
 
Consider harnessing digital 
technology to generate 
more coverage of overview 
and scrutiny activity.  

11. Para 11 
Page 11 

j) Ensuring scrutiny members are 
supported in having an independent 
mindset. 
 
Formal committee meetings provide a vital 
opportunity for scrutiny members to 
question the executive and officers. 
 
Inevitably, some committee members will 
come from the same political group as a 
member they are scrutinising and might 
well have a long-standing personal, or 
familial, relationship with them. 
 
Scrutiny members should bear in mind, 
however, that adopting an independent 
mind set is fundamental to carrying out 
their work effectively.  In practice, this is 
likely to require scrutiny chairs working 
proactively to identify any potentially 
contentious issues and plan how to 
manage them.  

 
 
 
 
There is nothing specifically addressing familial 
links in relation to conflicts of interest involving 
scrutiny of executive members, though members 
are required to abide by the Code of Conduct.  To 
an extent at small authorities there is always likely 
to be potential for there to be family links between 
members of the overview and scrutiny committee 
and of the executive. 
 
The importance of scrutiny acting as a ‘critical 
friend’ is dealt with as part of the member induction 
programme.  

 
 
 
 
It is proposed that no 
changes to the current 
arrangements are required. 

P
age 69



Item 
No. 

Ref Guidance – Summary/Extract Current Arrangements Recommendations 

  Resourcing  
 

  

12. Pages 
13/14 

Resources allocated to the scrutiny 
function play a pivotal role in determining 
how successful that function is and the 
value it can add to the work of the 
authority. 
 
Effective support is also about the ways in 
which the wider authority engages with 
those who carry out the scrutiny function. 
 
Effectively resourced scrutiny  
 

- Adds value to the work of 
authorities, improving their ability to 
meet the needs of local people. 

 
- Helps policy formulation and so 

minimises the need for call in of 
executive decisions. 

 
Authorities should ensure that, officers 
providing scrutiny support are able to 
provide impartial advice.  This might 
require consideration of the need to build 
safeguards into the way that support is 
provided.  
 

Administrative support for the overview and 
scrutiny committees is provided from within the 
democratic services team.  All Democratic 
Services Officers have an in depth knowledge of 
the law of meetings and the constitution. 
 
The lead officers for the overview and scrutiny 
committees are Heads of Service, and for every 
task and finish review a lead officer from the 
relevant service area is assigned to work alongside 
the Democratic Services Officer to support 
members.  

It is proposed that no 
changes to the current 
arrangements are required. 

  

P
age 70



Item 
No. 

Ref Guidance – Summary/Extract Current Arrangements Recommendations 

  Selecting Committee Members  
 

  

13. Paras 
27/28/29 
Pages 
15/16 

While there are proportionality 
requirements that must be met, the 
selection of the chair and other committee 
members is for each authority to decide for 
itself. 
 
An authority must consider when forming a 
committee that, as a group, it possesses 
the requisite expertise, commitment and 
ability to act impartially to fulfil its functions.  
 
Authorities should articulate in their 
constitutions how conflicts of interest, 
including familial links, between executive 
and scrutiny responsibilities should be 
managed, including where members stand 
down from executive and move to a 
scrutiny role, and vice-versa. 
 
When selecting individual members to 
serve on scrutiny committees, an authority 
should consider a member’s experience, 
expertise, interests, ability to act impartially, 
ability to work as part of a group, and 
capacity to serve.  
 
Authorities should not take into account a 
member’s perceived level of support for or 
opposition to a particular political party, 
notwithstanding the wider legal requirement 
for proportionality referred to above.  

It is a function of full council to decide at the annual 
meeting which committees to establish, their size 
and allocation of seats in accordance with political 
balance rules and council procedure rules.  The 
overview and scrutiny committee have cross party 
membership.  
 
The political groups should pay due regard to the 
requirements for selecting committee members to 
fill their allocated seats on overview and scrutiny.  
 
 
The code of conduct for members forms part of the 
Constitution which sets out the conduct all 
members are expected to follow.  This includes the 
registration of interests, the disclosure of pecuniary 
interests and other relevant interests. 
 
The code of conduct reflects the standards in 
public life and the expectations on members in 
relation to integrity, objectivity, openness and 
honesty.  

It is proposed that no 
changes to the current 
arrangements are required. 

  

P
age 71



Item 
No. 

Ref Guidance – Summary/Extract Current Arrangements Recommendations 

  Selecting Committee Members  
 

  

14. Paras 
30/31/32 
Page 16 

Selecting a Chair  
 
The attributes authorities should and 
should not take into account when 
selecting individual committee members 
also apply to the selection of the Chair, but 
the Chair should also possess the ability to 
lead and build a sense of teamwork and 
consensus among committee members. 
 
Chairs should pay special attention to the 
need to guard the committee’s 
independence.  Importantly, however, care 
should be taken to avoid the committee 
being viewed as a de facto opposition to 
the executive. 
 
Given their pre-eminent role on the scrutiny 
committee, it is strongly recommended that 
the Chair not preside over scrutiny of their 
relatives. 
 
The method for selecting a chair is for each 
authority to decide for itself, however every 
authority should consider taking a vote by 
secret ballot.  
 

 
 
Chairmanship training is included within the 
member induction programme.  
 
The overview and scrutiny chairmen positions are 
appointed at the annual meeting of the council in 
accordance with the requirements of the council’s 
constitution. 
 
The election of chairs in a meeting open to the 
press and public ensures that decision making is 
transparent and accountable to the public.   
 
The adoption of a secret ballot for the selection of 
committee chairs may be interpreted as a 
mechanism to avoid public scrutiny of the process 
and appears at odds with the principles which all 
council members follow and are enshrined in the 
member code of conduct. 
 
An alternative option would be to allow the 
overview and scrutiny committees to appoint their 
own chairmen at the first meeting of the municipal 
year.  This would require changes to be made to 
the constitution.  

 
 
To consider if the process 
for appointing chairs of 
overview and scrutiny 
committees should be 
reviewed.  

  

P
age 72



Item 
No. 

Ref Guidance – Summary/Extract Current Arrangements Recommendations 

  Selecting Committee Members  
 

  

15. Paras 
33-36 
Page 
16/17 

Training for committee members 
 
Authorities should ensure committee 
members are offered induction when they 
take up their role and on-going training so 
they can carry out their responsibilities 
effectively. 
 
Authorities should pay attention to the need 
to ensure committee members are aware 
of their legal powers, and how to prepare 
for and ask relevant questions at scrutiny 
sessions. 
 
Co-option and technical advice 
 
While members and their support officers 
will often have significant local insight and 
an understanding of local people and their 
needs, the provision of outside expertise 
can be invaluable.  
 
There are two principal ways to procure 
this: 
 
Co-option – formal co-option is provided for 
in legislation.  Authorities must establish a 
co-option scheme to determine how 
individuals will be co-opted onto 
committees; and  
 
Technical advisers – depending on the 
subject matter, independent local experts 
might exist who can provide advice and 
assistance in evaluating evidence.  

 
 
Training for overview and scrutiny is included in the 
Member Induction Programme.  For 2019 this was 
delivered via video with a face to face question and 
answer session.  The session is available on–line 
for Members to view to refresh knowledge as 
required.  
 
Further training may be provided based on need 
identified by the member’s personal development 
plan process.  
 
Informal inquiry sessions are used to look at 
specific subjects in detail and as a training aid. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Whilst there is no formal co-option scheme, the 
Audit and Governance Committee has a co-opted 
lay member. 
 
 
 
Technical advisers have previously been invited to 
present evidence at Task and Finish Group 
meetings. 

 
 
It is proposed that no 
changes to the current 
arrangements are required. 

P
age 73



Item 
No. 

Ref Guidance – Summary/Extract Current Arrangements Recommendations 

  Power to Access Information 
 

  

16. Paras 
37-44 
Pages 
18/19 

A scrutiny committee needs access to 
relevant information the authority holds, 
and to receive it in good time, if it is to do 
its job effectively. 
 
Members of scrutiny committees enjoying 
powers to access information – regulations 
give enhanced powers to a scrutiny 
member to access exempt or confidential 
information. 
 
Scrutiny members should have access to a 
regular available source of key information 
about the management of the authority, 
particularly on performance management 
and risk. 
 
Whilst each request for information should 
be judged on its individual merits, 
authorities should adopt a default position 
of sharing the information they hold, on 
request, with scrutiny committee members.  
 
Before an authority takes a decision not to 
share information it holds, it should give 
serious consideration to whether that 
information could be shared in closed 
session.  
 
Committees should be aware of their legal 
power to require members of the executive 
and officers to attend before them to 
answer questions. 
 

Members have access to reports from a wide 
range of officers within the council. 
 
Each scrutiny committee receives quarterly reports 
on performance management, budget monitoring 
and risk. 
 
Links to all committee papers are sent to all 
members on publication. 
 
There is a culture of conducting as much business 
as possible in open session, the provisions to 
enable Cabinet and committees to go into closed 
session are used sparingly, as are the provisions 
for executive decisions to be taken urgently.  
 
The objective is always to facilitate overview and 
scrutiny engagement prior to decisions being 
taken, with relevant reports being provided as 
evidence or using Member Briefing sessions. 
 
 
 
Refusal of information requests is an unusual 
occurrence.  
 
 
 
 
By convention, executive members and CMT 
engage with overview and scrutiny and are held to 
account for their decisions. The powers available 
to overview and scrutiny committees to require 
information and attendance by witnesses at 
meetings is fairly limited.  However, local 

It is proposed that no 
changes to the current 
arrangements are required. 

P
age 74



Seeking information from external 
organisations. 
 
Scrutiny members should also consider the 
need to supplement any authority held 
information they receive with information 
and intelligence that might be available 
from other sources and should note, in 
particular, their statutory powers to access 
information from certain external 
organisations.  
 
Following the Council pound 
 
Overview and scrutiny committee will often 
have a keen interest in ‘following the 
council pound’ i.e. scrutinising 
organisations that receive public funding to 
deliver goods and services. 
 
Authorities should recognise the legitimacy 
of this and consider the need to provide 
assistance to scrutiny members and 
support staff to obtain information from 
organisations the council has contracted to 
deliver services.  
 
When agreeing contracts with these 
bodies, authorities should consider whether 
it would be appropriate to include a 
requirement for them to supply information 
or to appear before scrutiny committees.  
 
 

experience has been positive.  Invitations to a 
range of organisations to attend task and finish 
groups over a number of years have invariably 
been accepted and constructive input provided. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Service contracts provide information for 
performance monitoring and it is considered this is 
adequate to service the purposes of scrutiny 
oversight. 
 
The principal witness and object of challenge 
remains the Executive.  
 
 
 
 

  

P
age 75



Item 
No. 

Ref Guidance – Summary/Extract Current Arrangements Recommendations 

  Planning Work  
 

  

19. Paras 
48 and 
52 
Page 21 

Effective scrutiny should have a defined 
impact on the ground, with the committee 
making recommendations that will make a 
tangible difference to the work of the 
authority.   To have this kind of impact 
scrutiny committees need to plan their work 
programme i.e. draw up a long term 
agenda and consider making it flexible 
enough to accommodate any urgent, short 
term issues that might arise during the 
year.  
 
Authorities with multiple scrutiny 
committees sometimes have a separate 
work programme for each committee.  
Where this happens consideration should 
be given to how to co-ordinate the various 
committees’ work to make best use of the 
total resources available.  
 
When thinking about scrutiny’s focus, 
members should be supported by key 
senior officers to take a leading role to 
clarify the role and function of scrutiny. 
 

Overview and scrutiny committee work 
programmes are determined by overview and 
scrutiny members based upon a variety of factors 
including the Cabinet’s Forward Plan of Key 
Decisions, the Corporate Plan and associated 
actions, government legislation, outcomes from 
quarterly performance reports and other plans and 
strategies including those of key partners.  
 
The work plans are considered at each meeting of 
the committees and recognises the capacity of 
officers and members whilst maintain the flexibility 
to accommodate matter which may arise in year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Lead Officers for overview and scrutiny are 
Head of Service level.  

It is proposed that no 
changes to the current 
arrangements are required. 

20. Para 53 
Page 21 

Who to speak to – the public 
 
Asking individual scrutiny members to have 
conversations with individuals and groups 
in their own local areas.  
 

Amplifying the voice of the public is one of the four 
principles of good scrutiny practice. 
 
A number of topics considered by scrutiny have 
generated a god deal of public interest and 
engagement.  

It is proposed that no 
changes to the current 
arrangements are required. 

  

P
age 76



Item 
No. 

Ref Guidance – Summary/Extract Current Arrangements Recommendations 

  Planning Work  
 

  

21. Para 53 
Page 22 

Who to speak to – the authority’s partners 
 
Relationships with other partners should 
not be limited to evidence-gathering to 
support individual reviews or agenda items. 
 

The authority maintains comprehensive links with a 
wide range of partners e.g. police, local health 
service providers, clinical commissioning groups, 
registered social landlords, environment agency, 
voluntary organisations. 
 
The work programme is informed by plans and 
strategies of key partners in addition to the 
Corporate Plan and other relevant documents.  
 

It is proposed that no 
changes to the current 
arrangements are required. 

22. Para 53 
Page 22 

Who to speak to – the Executive 
 
A principal partner in discussions on the 
work programme.   The executive should 
not direct scrutiny’s work but conversations 
will help scrutiny members better 
understand how their work can be 
designed to align with the best 
opportunities to influence the authority’s 
wider work. 
 

 
 
The executive are the principal partner in the 
overview and scrutiny work planning process.  

 

23. Para 
54/55 
Page 22 
 

Information sources 
 
Scrutiny will need access to relevant 
information to inform its work programme.  
The type of information will depend on the 
specific role and function scrutiny plays 
within the authority, but might include 
 
Performance information from across the 
authority and its partners 
 
Finance and risk information from across 
the authority and its partners. 
 

 
 
The council’s performance management 
information is reported regularly to the relevant 
scrutiny committees whilst the executive receives 
the complete performance report to enable it to 
take an overview of the council’s performance.  
 
Corporate complaints information is included within 
quarterly performance monitoring reports.  There 
are no formal arrangements for reporting 
information from member surgeries.  

 

P
age 77



Corporate complaints information, and 
aggregated information from political 
groups about the subject matter of 
members’ surgeries. 
 
Business cases and options appraisals 
(and other planning information) for 
forthcoming major decisions.  This 
information will be of particular use for pre-
decision scrutiny.  
 
Reports and recommendations issues by 
relevant ombudsmen, especially the local 
Government Ombudsman. 
 
Scrutiny members should consider keeping 
this information under regular review. 
 

24. Para 55 
Page 23 

Shortlisting Topics  
 
Approaches to shortlisting topics should 
reflect scrutiny’s overall role in the 
authority.  This will require the development 
of bespoke, local solutions, however when 
considering whether an item should be 
included in the work programme, the kind 
of questions a scrutiny committee should 
consider might include: 
 
Do we understand the benefits scrutiny 
would bring to this issue? 
 
How could we best carry out work on this 
subject? 
 
What would be the best outcome of this 
work? 
 

 
 
The overview and scrutiny committees consider 
topics for inclusion on the work programme at each 
meeting. 

 
 
It is proposed that no 
changes to the current 
arrangements are required. 

P
age 78



How would this work engage with the 
activity of the executive and other decision 
makers, including partners? 
 
Some authorities use scoring systems to 
evaluate and rank work programme 
proposals, others take a looser approach. 
 
A committee should be able to justify how 
and why a decision has been taken to 
include certain issues and not others. 
 

25 Para 58 
Page 
23/24 

Carrying out work 
 
Selected topics can be scrutinised in 
several ways, including: 
 
As a single item on a committee agenda; 
 
At a single meeting; 
 
At a task and finish review of two or three 
meetings; 
 
Via a longer term task and finish review; 
 
By establishing a ‘standing panel’ 
 

 
 
The overview and scrutiny committees use all of 
these methods for carrying out scrutiny work apart 
from the use of a standing panel.   
 
Member Working Groups and Inquiry Sessions are 
also used to support reviews.  
 
There are no proposals to change as these 
methods work well.  

 
 
It is proposed that no 
changes to the current 
arrangements are required. 

  

P
age 79



Item 
No. 

Ref Guidance – Summary/Extract Current Arrangements Recommendations 

  Evidence Sessions  
 

  

26 Para 
59/60 
Page 25 

Evidence sessions are a key way in which 
scrutiny committees inform their work. 
 
Good preparation is a vital part of 
conducting effective evidence sessions.  
Members should have a clear idea of what 
the committee hopes to get out of each 
session and appreciate that success will 
depend on their ability to work together on 
the day. 
 
Effective planning does not necessarily 
involve a large number of pre-meetings, the 
development of complex scopes or the 
drafting of questioning plans. 
 
Chairs play a vital role in leading 
discussions on objective-setting and 
ensuring all members are aware of the 
specific role each will play during the 
evidence session.  
 

 
 
 
Good planning and preparation takes place for 
evidence sessions organised by scrutiny task and 
finish groups for all in-depth scrutiny reviews.  A 
clear scope and key lines of enquiry are 
established and clearly explained to those invited 
to give evidence.  
 
Scrutiny skills training is provided as part of the 
Council’s member induction programme including 
how to ask questions and provide effective 
challenge.  

 
 
 
It is proposed that no 
changes to the current 
arrangements are required. 

27 Para 66 
Page 26 

Developing Recommendations  
 
The development and agreement of 
recommendations is often an iterative 
process.  It will usually be appropriate for 
this to be done only by members, assisted 
by co-optees where relevant.  When 
deciding on recommendations, however 
members should have due regard to advice 
received from officers, particularly the 
Monitoring Officer. 
 

 
 
Processes and procedures in place generally 
reflect the guidance. 

 
It is proposed that no 
changes to the current 
arrangements are required. 

P
age 80



Recommendations should be evidenced 
based and SMART i.e. specific, 
measurable, achievable, relevant and 
timed.  Where appropriate, committees 
may wish to consider sharing them in draft 
with interested parties.  
 
Committees should bear in mind that often 
six to eight recommendations are sufficient 
to enable the authority to focus its 
response, although there may be specific 
circumstances in which more might be 
appropriate.  
 
Sharing draft recommendations with 
executive members should not provide an 
opportunity for them to revise or block 
recommendations before they are made.  It 
should however, provide an opportunity for 
errors to be identified and corrected and for 
a more general sense-check. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

P
age 81



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Appendix 3 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

PROTOCOL ON CABINET - 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

RELATIONS 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 83



 
  

Page 84



Protocol on Cabinet – Overview and Scrutiny Relations 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The aim of the protocol is not intended to change the respective constitutional 

positions, roles or responsibilities of either the Cabinet or the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees.   

 
1.2 It is to clarify relationships between the two and help ensure the smooth 

conduct of overview and scrutiny business and encourage effective 
communication between overview and scrutiny and the Cabinet.  

 
1.3 This Protocol applies to all Members of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees, any Member who may sit on a Scrutiny Task and Finish Group, 
Working Group or Inquiry Session and all Members of the Executive 
(comprising the Leader and the various Cabinet Members).   

 
1.4 It provides guidance on the way in which both types of Members interact to 

enable the Authority to carry out the Overview and Scrutiny function.  The 
Protocol also outlines the framework and procedures underpinning the 
operation of scrutiny and provides guidance on role of officers who support 
this process.  

 
1.5 The key responsibilities of overview and scrutiny at the Council are to: 
 

o Hold the Cabinet and Corporate Management Team to account for 
their decisions; 

 
o Review Council policy, the way policies are implemented and their 

impact on local people; 
 

o Scrutinise decisions before they are made and before they are 
implemented; and  

 
o Contribute to the development of policy by investigating issues of local 

concern and making recommendations to the Cabinet (and Council’s 
partners). 

 
2. Objectives 
 
2.1 To enable Overview and Scrutiny Members, Officers and Cabinet Members to 

fully understand their powers, roles and responsibilities in relation to the 
Overview and Scrutiny function, so as to maximise their personal 
effectiveness.  

 
2.2 To establish a positive framework and the necessary procedures to enable 

scrutiny to work effectively.  
 
2.3 To promote an ethos of mutual respect, trust and courtesy in the 

interrelationships between Scrutiny Members and Cabinet Members and to 
foster a climate of openness leading to constructive debate, with a view to 
ensuring service improvements.  

Page 85



2.4 To create a culture of holding the Executive to account on behalf of the 
electorate, by monitoring the effectiveness of the Council’s policies and 
through the regular review of its performance in relation to service delivery.  

 
2.5 To define and clarify the role of the Executive as an integral component of the 

scrutiny process.  
 
3. Holding the Executive to Account 

3.1 One of the underpinning principles of Overview and Scrutiny is the ability of 
non-Executive Members to hold the Executive to account. A key method of 
ensuring accountability is through critically and routinely considering the 
performance and decisions taken by the Executive.  

 
3.2 To facilitate this approach, the Scrutiny Committees may challenge the 

Executive about decisions, which it has taken collectively, or Officer Key 
Decisions. The Scrutiny Committees may also consider any relevant 
performance information in respect of the delivery of services. In addition, the 
Committee may query or make recommendations in relation to decisions 
which the Executive is proposing to take, as set out in the Forward Plan.  

 
3.3 The Executive will be required to consider any recommendations or views 

expressed by the Scrutiny Committees and to take such action it sees fit. 
Where any decision taken by the Executive is not in accordance with advice 
provided by the Committees, the relevant Cabinet Member should be 
prepared to provide an explanation of the reasons for that decision to the 
Committee concerned.  

 
4. Powers of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
 
4.1 Section 3 of Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) of the Council’s Constitution, 

sets out the relevant powers of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees, which 
include:-  

 
o The power to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other actions 

taken, in connection with the discharge of Executive functions;  
 

o The power to make reports or recommendations to the Executive with 
respect to the discharge of any Executive functions;  

 
o The power to assist the Council and the Executive in the development 

of the policy framework and budget, subject to the limitations set out in 
the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules; and  

 
o The power to require Members of the Executive to attend before it to 

answer questions. 
 
5. Overview and Scrutiny Committee Agendas 
 
5.1 The agenda of each Scrutiny Committee meeting will include an item on the 

Committee’s Work Plan to enable the Committee’s priorities for scrutiny for 
the remainder of the Municipal Year to be included and prioritised.  

 

Page 86



5.2 The Cabinet Member may be invited to comment on the Committee’s 
proposed priorities within the Work Plan to inform the selection process and to 
undertake a co-ordinating role by providing advice to the Committee about 
any potential conflict between proposed scrutiny topics and areas of planned 
policy development.  

 
5.3 The Cabinet Member may also advise the Committee about instances where 

it may be requested by the Executive to assist in policy development.  
Members may at any time propose items for inclusion in the Committee’s 
Work Plan. Such topics may include not only Council Services, but also any 
relevant item, which affects the Borough or its residents.  

 
5.4 The agendas of the Scrutiny Committees will include quarterly performance 

monitoring information at relevant times during the municipal year.  The 
purpose of this item is to assist Members to monitor the recent performance of 
services within its remit against key targets and to make recommendations or 
to implement a more detailed scrutiny review in relation to those areas of 
identified weakness. 

 
6. Attendance by Executive Members at Scrutiny Committees  

(including ‘Call-In’ meetings) 
 
6.1 Cabinet Members will normally be expected to attend meetings of the Scrutiny 

Committees, for the purposes of being held to account in relation to decisions 
taken and to answer questions in relation to proposed decisions.  

 
6.2 Cabinet Members are encouraged to avail themselves of every opportunity to 

gauge the views of non-Executive Members on any issues falling within their 
remit.  A close working relationship and an open exchange of views will be of 
particular importance to the Cabinet Member and Scrutiny Members, where 
consideration is being given to the development of the Council’s budget or 
policy framework.  

 
6.3 Cabinet Members will normally be expected to attend any meeting of a 

Scrutiny Committee at which it is intended to consider a Call-In request in 
relation to his/her area of responsibility.  

 
6.4 At Call-In meetings, the purpose of the Cabinet Member’s attendance is to 

answer questions of fact and not to present the item. Cabinet Members need 
to be careful not to be drawn into the debate, so as to avoid any possible 
allegations of becoming involved in the scrutiny of their own decisions which 
may bring them into conflict with the Code of Conduct. It is therefore important 
to draw the distinction between answering questions of fact and becoming 
involved in the Committee debate into the issue in question. 

 
6.5 Unless there are extenuating circumstances, the relevant Cabinet Member 

should always attend a Call-In meeting. It is accepted however that Officers 
are often better placed to present greater detailed information that led up to 
the decision and this is deemed to be acceptable although it should always be 
the decision maker that is held to account. 

 
  

Page 87



6.6 The following procedure should take place at Call-In meetings: 
 

 The Members who called in the decision should speak first. 
 

 The Chairman would then invite the Cabinet Member (decision maker) to 
respond. 

 

 The Committee can then ask questions of the decision maker who may 
ask a relevant officer to supply further information if necessary. 

 

 The Committee debates the issue and votes on the outcome. 
 
6.7 In the event of a situation where the relevant Cabinet Member cannot attend a 

Call-In meeting, the Leader of the Council or Deputy Leader should attend in 
their absence. In the event of both the Leader and Deputy Leader being 
unavailable, they should nominate another Cabinet Member to attend and be 
accountable for the decision. 

 
7. Ethos of the Meeting  
 
7.1 All Members should promote an atmosphere of openness at Scrutiny 

Committee meetings and should strive to ensure that questioning and debate 
takes place within a climate of mutual respect and trust between Scrutiny 
Committee Members, the Cabinet Member and other participants.  

 
7.2 Scrutiny Committee Members should be prepared to ask searching questions 

of Cabinet Members, who in turn should be willing to respond to any question 
put. It should however be stated that Scrutiny Committee Members should be 
aware of and show an understanding of the fact that Cabinet Members may 
not be in a position to answer every question immediately or in detail.  

 
7.3 Cabinet Members should, in so far as possible, anticipate and be prepared to 

answer questions on decisions taken, or proposed to be taken, which fall 
within their remit. Cabinet Members should also value the contribution of 
Scrutiny Committee Members who raise questions under these headings and 
respond in an appropriate and professional manner.  

 
7.4 Cabinet Members should normally be authorised by the Committee to speak 

upon any item on the agenda which falls into their portfolio area of 
responsibility and may at any time offer to assist the Scrutiny Committee by 
the provision of factual information or advice in relation to the matters under 
discussion.  

 
7.5 The Chairman of the meeting shall at all times ensure that the conduct of the 

meeting shall be fair and that all participants are treated courteously.  
 
7.6 The Chairman, supported by the officers, should provide leadership and 

guidance to the Committee on all scrutiny matters and should promote the 
Committee’s role to improve services and monitor the effectiveness of Council 
policies.  

 
  

Page 88



8. Supporting Overview and Scrutiny Reviews 
 
8.1 These are reports with recommendation that have resulted from the work of a 

Task and Finish Group, Working Group or Inquiry Session who will have 
spent time considering background information, witness evidence, and 
formulating their recommendations. 

 
8.2 The Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the parent scrutiny committee will be 

invited to present the final report at a Cabinet meeting. 
 

The Cabinet can expect a report that: 
 

o Has clear, concise recommendations; 
 

o Identifies potential areas for improvement; and  
 

o Highlights implications including financial, legal, equality, policy, of the 
recommendations and where possible identify solutions as appropriate.  

 
8.3 The relevant Portfolio Holder(s) can assist the review in a number of ways 

including: 
 

o At the outset of the review, when the Task and Finish Group is 
considering the scope, methodology and witnesses to give evidence; 

 
o During the review when the Portfolio Holder can be invited to give 

evidence; 
 

o At the end of the review after the Task and Finish Group has produced 
the first draft of the report.  

 
8.4 During the review period the Chairman of the Task and Finish Group is 

recommended to meet with the Portfolio Holder and Officers: 
 

o To discuss the proposed scope, methodology and sources of evidence 
for the review and ascertain if the Portfolio Holder has any suggestions 
to make; 

 
o To highlight and examine areas of potential agreement or 

disagreement in relation to the report’s findings and recommendations 
to ascertain if any areas of disagreement can be resolved at the draft 
report stage, or identify if any further work needs to be done by the 
Task and Finish Group.  

 
8.5 Although this dialogue is encouraged, it is recognised that the overview and 

scrutiny committees and their Task and Finish Groups are independent of the 
Cabinet and as such agreement may not be possible on all the findings and 
conclusions in a draft report. 

 
8.6 It is recognised that senior officers have a valuable role to play in the scrutiny 

process in terms of the provision of factual evidence for a review. At the 
commencement of an internal review, the Chairman of the Task and Finish 
Group will notify the relevant Head of Service who will then contribute to the 

Page 89



review in terms of supplying information and helping to identify suitable 
witnesses.  

 
8.7 The Head of Service will be given the opportunity to comment and/or make 

recommendations on a completed draft report in terms of any factual errors. 
The decision as to whether to incorporate any suggested amendments will 
remain with the Task and Finish Group. 

 
8.8 The responsibility for the implementation of scrutiny recommendations that 

have been approved by the Executive will rest with the relevant Head of 
Service who will also be responsible for providing regular updates on progress 
to the Scrutiny Committee. 

 
8.9 A completed scrutiny report, together with any comments provided by Officers 

will be forwarded to the Executive who will consider whether or not to 
implement the recommendations contained within the report.  

 
8.10 If the content of a report, including any recommendations, is likely to impact 

on any external organisation, the Executive will have the opportunity to pass 
comment, including whether or not it endorses the recommendations, before 
the report is passed to the external body. 

 
9. Attendance by Officers at Scrutiny Committee and Task and Finish 

Group meetings 
 
9.1 Meetings of the Scrutiny Committees will be attended by the assigned Lead 

Officer and Heads of Service or Service Managers with responsibility for any 
agenda item under discussion. The role of the Lead Officer will be to assist 
the Committee through the provision of professional advice and to ensure 
access to relevant information and personnel.  

 
9.2 The attendance of other relevant officers at either Scrutiny Committees, Task 

and Finish Group or Working Group meetings, or Inquiry Sessions will be at 
the request of the Chairman, who will have regard to the appropriate level of 
seniority of attendees. In general the relevant officer should not be below the 
level of Service Manager.  

 
9.3 An officer in receipt of a request to attend a Scrutiny meeting should make 

reasonable efforts to do so. Where an officer is unable to attend on a 
particular date he/she should notify the Chairman or Lead Officer as soon as 
possible, in order to agree the most appropriate course of action, which may 
include the attendance of an alternative representative.  

 
9.4 Officers in attendance at Scrutiny Committee meetings should be prepared to 

assist the Cabinet Member in the provision of information to the Committee in 
response to any question raised.  

 
9.5 Relevant Officers will normally be expected to attend any meeting of the 

Scrutiny Committee at which it is intended to consider a Call-In request in 
relation to his/her service area.  

 
 

Page 90



Environment and Performance Committee Work Programme 2019–20 
 

THIS COMMITTEE’S REMIT IS ALIGNED TO COPORATE PRIORITIES:   CP1 PROSPERITY   and   CP3 PLACE 
 

DATE REPORT REPORTING PORTFOLIO HOLDER CABINET 
 

 

18.06.19 
 

1. Introduction to committee / Work Programme / Annual 
Scrutiny Report 

 

 

Chairman and Lead Officer 
 

-  

17.07.19 
 

 

 

30.07.19 
 

1. Climate Change 
2. CCTV Policy Review and Annual Performance Update 
3. Crime & Disorder Annual Review /ASB/PSPO (Alcohol) 

Statistics  
4. Boston Alternative Energy Facility (BAEF) Consultation 

Phase 3  
 

 

 

Chief Executive 
CCTV Manager  
Anti-Social Behaviour Officer 
 
Deputy Chief Executive 
 

 

Councillor P Skinner  
“ 
“ 
 

Councillor Welton 
 

 

11.09.19 
 

 

 

 

24.09.19 

 

1. BAEF – Update by Representatives 
2. Pilgrims 2020 – Update 
3. Climate Change Working Group - Update 
4. Replacement Bin Charges 
5. Night time Economy 

 

 

Deputy Chief Executive 
Head of Place and Space 
Working Group  
Head of Env. Operations  

 

Councillor Welton 
Councillor P Skinner 
Councillor Arundell 

“ 
Councillor Stevens 

 

23.10.19 
 

 

 

05.11.19 

 

1. Climate Change Working Group - Update 
 

2. Night-Time Economy Inquiry Evening - Update  
3. New Statutory Guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in  

Combined Authorities 
4. Work Programme 

 

 

Working Group Chairman 
Councillor Dorrian 
Head of Environmental Ops.  
Head of Environmental Ops. 
 
Standing Item 

 

Councillor P Skinner 
 

Councillor P Skinner 
 

 

04.12.19 
 

 

 

07.01.20 
 

 

1. Climate Change Working Group – Update 
 

2. Air Quality Plan 
3. PSPO Dog Fouling  
4. T&F Review Markets – update on recommendations. 
5. Programme  -  Q2 Performance. 

 

 

Working Group Chairman 
Councillor Dorrian 
Head of Regulatory Services 
Head of Regulatory Services 
Head of Place and Space 
Standing Item 

 

Councillor P Skinner 
 

Councillor P Skinner 
Councillor P Skinner 

Councillor C Sharman 

 

22.01.20 

 

P
age 91

A
genda Item

 4



 

03.03.20 
 

1. Work Programme 
2. 2020 – report and tour. 
(Note:  This meeting will be held at Boston’s Guildhall to accommodate 
an on-site tour supporting the 2020 report.  As this report will be 
substantial in detail and viewing – no additional reports will be tabled at 
this meeting). 

 

Standing Item 
Head of Place and Space 

 
 

 

19.02.19 

 

 

28.04.20 
 

1. Work Programme 

 

 

Standing Item 

 

 
 

01.04.20 

 

Forward planning 2020 / 2023 
 

 
2020/2021 

 

 
2021/2022 

 

 
2022/2023 

 

 

 

OPTIONS FOR SCRUTINY WORKING  -  current at issue of agenda. 
 

Task and Finish Group Review  

Member Working Group Climate Change – reporting on current agenda 

Inquiry Session  

Member Briefing 20 November 2019 – Peer Review Feedback. 

  

  

P
age 92


	Agenda
	B. MINUTES
	1 CLIMATE CHANGE
	2 NIGHT-TIME ECONOMY
	3 NEW STATUTORY GUIDANCE ON OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY IN LOCAL AND COMBINED AUTHORITIES
	Appendix 1.  Statutory Guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in Local and Combined Authorities.
	Appendix 2.  Analysis of Statutory Guidance and comparison of current arrangements.
	Appendix 3.  Executive - Overview and Scrutiny Relations Protocal

	4 WORK PROGRAMME

